SEX STEROID METABOLISM AND BODY COMPOSITION

Charlotte Swanson



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET

Institute of Medicine at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, 2009

All published papers were reproduced with permission from the publishers.

Printed by Intellecta Infolog Göteborg 2009

ISBN 978-91-628-7697-5 E-title: http://hdl.handle.net/2077/19377

To Parker and Freja

SEX STEROID METABOLISM AND BODY COMPOSITION

Charlotte Swanson

Institute of Medicine at Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, 2009

ABSTRACT

Background: The bioactive androgens testosterone (T) and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) regulate bone and fat mass in men. The effects of androgens are largely determined by the rate of their synthesis and inactivation. Irreversible conjugation of androgens or androgen metabolites by UDP glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) into water-soluble glucuronidated androgen metabolites plays an important role in the inactivation of androgens and thereby in the regulation of local intracellular androgen levels.

Aims: To *in vivo* characterize genetic variations associated with substrate-specific glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites and to explore the impact of androgen metabolites and polymorphisms associated with glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites as predictors of bone and fat mass.

Methods: Three candidate polymorphisms in enzymes, proposed from *in vitro* studies to be involved in glucuronidation of androgens (UGT2B7, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17), and androgens/glucuronidated androgen metabolites, measured by mass spectrometry, were analyzed in two well-characterized population-based cohorts of young adult and elderly Swedish subjects.

Results: We demonstrated *in vivo* that the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y, UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are functional or in linkage with functional polymorphisms. We provided *in vivo* evidence for substrate-specific glucuronidation of androgens by the three UGT2B enzymes. Both UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 were involved in the glucuronidation of the androgen metabolite 5 α -androstane-3 α ,17 β -diol (3 α -diol) into 3 α -diol-17glucuronide (17G), while only UGT2B17 had the capacity to directly glucuronidate T. The urinary T to epiT ratio, commonly used in antidoping test programs, was strongly associated with the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism. The glucuronidation of DHT was partly dependent on UGT2B17. UGT2B7 was involved in the glucuronidation of 3 α -diol-3glucuronide (3G).

Importantly, the glucuronidated androgen metabolites 3G and 17G associated more strongly with bone mineral density (BMD) than the bioactive androgens. The UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism associated with cortical bone size. Young adult men homozygous for the UGT2B7 Y-allele had larger cortical bone size than individuals homozygous for the H-allele.

The glucuronidated androgen metabolite 17G, and especially the 17G/DHT ratio, were directly related to fat mass and metabolic risk factors. The 17G/DHT ratio explained a substantial part of the variance of total body fat mass in young adult and elderly men (12% and 15%, respectively). The UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms associated with fat mass and metabolic risk factors. Subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion or the UGT2B15 Y-allele had increased amount of fat.

Conclusions: The present findings indicate that analyses of specific glucuronidated androgen metabolites might provide additional information for prediction of the risk of osteoporosis and metabolic diseases. Genetic variations in enzymes responsible for the glucuronidation of androgens result in altered levels of glucuronidated androgen metabolites in serum and probably also of androgen levels in androgen-dependent tissues. Some of these genetic variations associate with bone and/or fat mass.

Keywords: UDP glucuronosyltransferases, polymorphisms, androgens, glucuronidated androgen metabolites, fat mass, bone, metabolic risk factors, population study

ISBN 978-91-628-7697-5

KÖNSHORMONSMETABOLISM OCH KROPPSSAMMANSÄTTNING

Charlotte Swanson

Institutionen för medicin vid Sahlgrenska Akademin, Göteborgs universitet, Göteborg, 2009

SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING

Bakgrund: De aktiva androgenerna testosteron (T) och dihydrotestosteron (DHT) reglerar ben och fettmassa hos män. Androgeners effekter bestäms i hög grad av deras syntes och inaktivering hastighet. Irreversibel konjugering av androgener eller androgenmetaboliter av UDP glukuronosyltranferaser (UGTs) till mer vattenlösliga androgenmetaboliter spelar en viktig roll i inaktiveringen av androgener och därmed också i regleringen av androgennivåer lokalt.

Syfte: Att *in vivo* karaktärisera genetiska variationer associerade med substratspecifik glukuronidering av androgener/androgenmetaboliter och att utforska androgenmetaboliters roll samt polymorfier, associerade med glukuronidering av androgener/androgenmetaboliter, som prediktorer för ben och fettmassa.

Metoder: Tre kandidatpolymorfier i enzymer föreslagna från studier *in vitro* att vara involverade i glukuronideringen av androgener (UGT2B7, UGT2B15 och UGT2B17), och androgener/glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliter, mätta med masspektrometri, analyserades i två välkarakteriserade populationsbaserade kohorter bestående av unga och äldre svenska individer.

Resultat: Vi visar *in vivo* att UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorfin, UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorfin och UGT2B17 deletionspolymorfin är funktionella eller kopplade till funktionella polymorfier. Vi ger bevis *in vivo* för att dessa tre UGT2B enzymer utför substratspecifik glukuronidering av androgener. Både UGT2B15 och UGT2B17 var involverade i glukuronideringen av androgenmetaboliten 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol (3α-diol) till 3α-diol-17glukuroniden (17G), medan endast UGT2B17 hade kapaciteten att direkt glukuronidera T. Ratiot mellan T och epiT i urin, vanligen använt i antidoping tester, var starkt associerat med UGT2B17. UGT2B7 var involverat i glukuronideringen av 3α-diol till 3α-diol-3glukuroniden (3G).

Viktigt nog visade sig de glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliterna 17G och 3G vara starkare associerade till mineralinnehållet i ben (BMD) än de aktiva androgenerna. UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorfin var associerad till kortikal benstorlek. Unga individer homozygota för Y-allelen av UGT2B7 hade större kortikal benstorlek än individer homozygota för H-allelen.

Den glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliten 17G, och speciellt 17G/DHT ratiot, var direkt relaterade till fettmassa och metabola riskfaktorer. 17G/DHT ratiot förklarade en väsentlig del av variationen i mängden totalt kroppsfett hos unga och äldre män (12%, respektive 15%). UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorfin och UGT2B17 deletionspolymorfin var associerade med fettmassa och metabola riskfaktorer. Individer homozygota för Y-allelen av UGT2B15 eller deletionen av UGT2B17 hade ökad fettmassa.

Slutsatser: Dessa fynd indikerar att analyser av specifika glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliter kan ge ytterligare information för att prediktera risken för osteoporos och metabola sjukdomar. Genetiska variationer i enzymer ansvariga för glukuronideringen av androgener resulterar i förändrade nivåer av glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliter i serum och troligtvis också av androgennivåer i androgenkänsliga vävnader. Några av dessa genetiska variationer var associerade med ben och fettmassa.

Nyckelord: UDP glukuronosyltranferaser, polymorfier, androgener, glukuroniderade androgenmetaboliter, fettmassa, benmassa, metabola riskfaktorer, populationsstudie

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following articles, which will be referred to by their roman numerals.

- I. The uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the 2B17 deletion polymorphisms predict the glucuronidation pattern of androgens and fat mass in men.
 Swanson C, Mellström D, Lorentzon M, Vandenput L, Jakobsson J, Rane A, Karlsson M, Ljunggren Ö, Smith U, Eriksson AL, Bélanger A, Labrie F, Ohlsson C.
 J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Dec;92(12):4878-82
- II. Sex steroid levels and cortical bone size in young men are associated with a uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 polymorphism (H²⁶⁸Y).

Swanson C, Lorentzon M, Vandenput L, Labrie F, Rane A, Jakobsson J, Chouinard S, Bélanger A, Ohlsson C. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Sep;92(9):3697-704*

- III. Serum levels of specific glucuronidated androgen metabolites predict BMD and prostate volume in elderly men.
 Vandenput L, Labrie F, Mellström D, Swanson C, Knutsson T, Peeker R, Ljunggren Ö, Orwoll E, Eriksson AL, Damber JE, Ohlsson C.
 J Bone Miner Res. 2007 Feb;22(2):220-7
- IV. Androgens and glucuronidated androgen metabolites are associated with metabolic risk factors in men. Vandenput L, Mellström D, Lorentzon M, Swanson C, Karlsson MK, Brandberg J, Lönn L, Orwoll E, Smith U, Labrie F, Ljunggren Ö, Tivesten Å, Ohlsson C.

J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Nov;92(11):4130-7

CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 5 |
|--|----|
| SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING | 6 |
| LIST OF PUBLICATIONS | 7 |
| CONTENTS | |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS | 10 |
| INTRODUCTION | 13 |
| GENERAL INTRODUCTION | |
| GENETICS | |
| The genetic code – DNA to protein | |
| Genetic variations | |
| Studying genetic variations | |
| SEX STEROIDS | |
| Synthesis of sex steroids | |
| Degradation of androgens | |
| UGT enzymes | |
| Degradation of estrogens | |
| Mechanisms of action of sex steroids and their receptors | |
| Binding of sex steroids to plasma proteins | 23 |
| INTRACRINOLOGY | |
| THE SKELETON | |
| Bone growth | |
| Age-related bone loss | |
| OSTEOPOROSIS IN MEN | |
| OBESITY | |
| The metabolic syndrome | |
| AIMS OF THE THESIS | 31 |
| METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS | |
| HUMAN COHORTS | |
| The GOOD study | |
| The MrOS study | |
| IN VIVO IMAGING TECHNIQUES | |
| Dual-energy X-ray absortiometry (DXA) | |
| Peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) | |

| Abdominal computed tomography (CT) | 35 |
|---|----|
| Measurement of prostate volume | 36 |
| DETERMINATION OF GENETIC VARIATIONS | 36 |
| DNA isolation | 36 |
| Genetic polymorphism analysis | 36 |
| SERUM AND URINE MEASUREMENTS | 38 |
| Mass spectrometry (MS) | 38 |
| Serum/plasma assays | 39 |
| STATISTICS | 40 |
| RESULTS AND COMMENTS | 41 |
| PAPER I | 41 |
| PAPER II | 42 |
| PAPER III | 43 |
| PAPER IV | 43 |
| DISCUSSION | 45 |
| GENES AND POLYMORPHISMS INVOLVED IN SUBSTRATE-SPECIFIC GLUCURONIDATION OF | - |
| ANDROGENS/ANDROGEN METABOLITES | 45 |
| ANDROGEN METABOLITES AND BONE MASS | 50 |
| POLYMORPHISMS IN GLUCURONIDATION ENZYMES AND BONE MASS | 51 |
| ANDROGENS AND FAT MASS | 52 |
| ANDROGEN METABOLITES AND FAT MASS | 54 |
| The 17G/DHT ratio and fat mass | 55 |
| POLYMORPHISMS AND FAT MASS | 56 |
| SUMMARY | 57 |
| CONCLUDING REMARKS | 58 |
| FUTURE PERSPECTIVES | 59 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 60 |
| REFERENCES | 63 |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| aBMD | areal BMD |
|---------|---|
| A-dione | androstanedione |
| ADT | androsterone |
| ADTG | androsterone-glucuronide |
| ANOVA | analysis of variance |
| AR | androgen receptor |
| ARE | androgen responsive element |
| BMD | bone mineral density |
| BMI | body mass index |
| CNV | copy number variation |
| COMT | catechol-O-methyltransferase |
| CYP450 | cytochrome P450 |
| D | aspartate |
| DHEA | dehydroepiandrosterone |
| DHEAS | dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate |
| DHT | dihydrotestosterone |
| DHTG | dihydrotestosterone-glucuronide |
| DNA | deoxribonucleic acid |
| DXA | dual-energy X-ray absortiometry |
| E1 | estrone |
| E2 | estradiol |
| epiT | epitestosterone |
| ER | estrogen receptor |
| ERE | estrogen responsive element |
| FSH | follicle stimulating hormone |
| FT | free testosterone |
| GC-MS | gas chromatography-mass spectrometry |
| GH | growth hormone |
| Gn-RH | gonadotrophin-releasing hormone |
| GOOD | Gothenburg Osteoporosis and Obesity Determinant |
| GPR30 | G protein-coupled receptor 30 |
| GWA | genome-wide association |
| Н | histidine |
| HDL | high density lipoprotein |
| HOMA | homeostasis model assessment |
| HSD | hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase |

| IGF-I | insulin-like growth factor-l | |
|----------|---|--|
| LC-MS/MS | liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry | |
| LD | linkage disequilibrium | |
| LH | luteinizing hormone | |
| MrOS | Osteoporotic Fractures in Men | |
| OR | odds ratio | |
| PCR | polymerase chain reaction | |
| pQCT | peripheral quantitative computed tomography | |
| RIA | radioimmunoassay | |
| RNA | ribonucleic acid | |
| SD | standard deviation | |
| SEM | standard error of the mean | |
| SHBG | sex hormone binding globulin | |
| SNP | single nucleotide polymorphism | |
| SULT | sulfotranferase | |
| Т | testosterone | |
| TG | testosterone-glucuronide | |
| TRUS | transrectal ultrasound | |
| UDP | uridine diphosphate | |
| UGT | UDP glucuronosyltransferase | |
| vBMD | volumetric BMD | |
| WHO | World Health Organization | |
| Y | tyrosine | |
| | | |
| 17G | 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol-17glucuronide | |
| 3G | 5α -androstane- 3α , 17β -diol- 3 glucuronide | |
| 3α-diol | 5α-androstane-3α,17β-diol | |
| 4-dione | androstenedione | |
| 5-diol | 5-androstene-3β,17β-diol | |

INTRODUCTION

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Sex steroids are known to play an important role in the regulation of bone and fat mass in men. Androgens are secreted primarily from the testes, but are also made locally in peripheral target tissues from adrenal-derived androgen precursors. This local transformation is dependent on the expression of metabolizing enzymes in each tissue. Degradation of androgens into androgen metabolites terminates the androgenic signal. The UDP glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) are responsible for the conjugation of androgens. These proteins are also present locally within the peripheral tissues. This means that the synthesis and degradation of androgens can take place in the same cell in which they exert their action, without diffusion into the circulation. This limits the interpretation of serum levels of androgens. Instead, measuring androgen metabolites might be a better indication of true intracellular androgen levels. Recently, a mass spectrometry (MS) technique was developed capable of distinguishing between the different glucuronidated androgen metabolites. With the access to two large well characterized cohorts of Swedish men and the MS technique, we have investigated the role of genetic variations in the UGT genes and the role of the androgen metabolites for bone and fat mass, including metabolic risk factors. A better understanding of the metabolism of androgens and the genetic variations involved could result in improved diagnostic markers or treatment strategies for androgen-dependent disorders.

GENETICS

The genetic code – DNA to protein

The essential attributes of the gene were defined by Mendel more than a century ago. Mendel discovered that different characteristics pass unchanged from parent to off-spring in a predictable manner. Later, it was found that the information inherited was located in the deoxribonucleic acid (DNA) molecule, which resides in the nucleus of the cell (1, 2). DNA is like a cellular library that contains all the information required for development, function and phenotype of all animals and plants.

DNA consists of two polynucleotide strands that wound together to form a helix-spiral (1) that contains three structures; a nitrogenous base, a sugar and a phosphate

group. Two sugar-phosphate groups make up the back bone on the outside of the helix, and the bases project toward the inside. Hydrogen bonds and van der Waals interactions between the stacked base pairs contribute to the stability of the DNA structure (1, 2). There are four bases in the DNA; adenine (A), thymine (T), cytosine (C) and guanine (G) (1), where A always pairs with T and C always pairs with G. It is the sequence of the bases that make up the genetic code. DNA is organized in pairs of chromosomes, one which is inherited from the mother and one from the father (2). Humans have 23 pairs, with 22 pairs of autosomes (non-sex chromosome) and one pair of sex chromosomes. Women's sex chromosome pair is XX, while men have XY.

In the process of transcription, information from the DNA is copied into ribonucleic acid (RNA). RNA is very similar to DNA, but instead of the base thymine it has uracil (U) and instead of the sugar deoxyribose it has ribose (1). Transcription starts when a RNA polymerase binds to the start codon of a gene. Transcription factors are recruited to help the process, regulating the amount of RNA synthesized and controlling tissue specific expression. After the mRNA is transcribed, it is spliced. Coding parts (exons) are fused together while non-coding parts (introns) are spliced away. The RNA is then translated to a protein (2).

Genetic variations

Mutations change the sequence of the DNA and can become a permanent part of the genetic information. If the mutation has a minor allele frequency of >1%, it is called a polymorphism. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), where one nucleotide/base is changed, is the most common type (2). SNPs appearing in the coding part of the DNA can either change the base without resulting in a change of the amino acid it codes for, or it can affect the amino acid sequence and subsequently the protein. There are also polymorphisms that are caused by insertions, deletions or duplications of stretches of DNA sequences, so called copy number variations (CNVs), which change the copy number of a specific allele (3). Another kind of polymorphism is the tandem repeat segments, which consist of a segment repeated one or more times after each other. It should be noted, that SNPs found in the introns of the DNA still might have an effect for example on mRNA stability and for correct splicing. Also, SNPs found in the exons of the DNA that do not change the amino acid sequence, can have similar effects (4). In the human population, SNPs occur about once every 1000 bases (5, 6). These common polymorphisms constitute 90% of the variation in the population.

Since one allele is inherited from the mother and one from the father (2), we have two alleles of each SNP. For example for the UGT2B7 D^{85} Y polymorphism, where a G is changed to a T, some individuals will inherit G from both the mother and the father or T from both. These individuals are homozygous for this allele (GG or TT, respectively). Some will inherit a G from one parent and a T from the other parent, and are heterozygous (GT) for this allele.

SNPs that lie close to each other and in regions with little recombination are inherited together in block-like structures, so called haplotypes. Although, theoretically, many combinations of the SNPs could occur, only a few haplotypes are found (7). This leads to SNPs that are genetically linked to each other; they are said to be in linkage disequilibrium (LD) (5). When LD is equal to 1, the SNPs are said to be in perfect LD (8). By genotyping only a few carefully chosen tag SNPs in the haplotype, it is possible to predict the information from the remaining SNPs in that haplotype. For example, of the 10 million SNPs in the population, only 500 000 tag SNPs are suggested to be needed to be genotyped to provide information of >90% of common SNP variation (5, 7).

In 2002, a consortium was formed, the so called HapMap Project, with the aim to characterize SNP frequencies and LD patterns across the human genome (5, 7, 9). By developing a haplotype map of the human genome, using samples from 270 individuals from Europe, Asia and West Africa, the common patterns of variations are described and tag SNPs are identified. The project had genotyped 3 million SNPs by 2007 (10). The results from HapMap and other researchers are published in a public database (dbSNP) (11). So far, 14 700 000 SNPs have been entered and of these, 6 600 000 have been validated by at least one second entry. Each SNP is given an identification number (rs-number) (9, 11).

Studying genetic variations

There are different ways to study genetic regulation of a disease. *Association studies*, used for Papers I and II in this thesis, typically involve identifying a polymorphism in a candidate gene and relating the genotype of individuals to e.g. BMD in a population study (12). Alternatively, in case-control studies, a group of cases affected by a disease and a group of controls are genotyped for a polymorphism and the allele frequencies are compared. Association studies of candidate genes/SNPs are hypothesis-driven. They are relatively simple to perform, although a large homogenous sample size (cohort) is usually needed (13).

Association studies work the best when detecting common genetic variants, of modest effect, contributing together to a multi gene disease like osteoporosis (14).

Recently (15, 16), it has become possible to do *genome-wide association (GWA) studies* where closely spaced tag SNPs are analyzed and can give information about most of the genetic variation. The genotyped SNPs must be spaced sufficiently dense to be in LD with most of the variants that are not genotyped. It is estimated that around 500 000 SNPs are needed for GWA studies (15, 17). As for association studies, GWA studies work the best when detecting common genetic variants, of modest effect, contributing together to a multi gene disease like osteoporosis (18) and obesity (19). GWA studies are hypothesis-free. Although GWA studies can be very informative, they do have limitations. For example, the effects of rare variant (20) might be missed (21). In addition, the multiple testing performed in GWA studies requires large materials to reach the genome wide statistical significance level of $p < 5*10^{-8}$ (7).

Linkage analysis studies in humans are widely used to identify genes contributing to rare monogenic diseases. Genetic markers (SNPs or microsatellites) evenly spread over the genome are analyzed in sets of families with affected individuals. After identifying regions of interest, a denser mapping is performed of these areas and the specific gene, or mutation related to the disease, can be found. A disadvantage is that it is difficult to identify genes that have modest effect even when the sample size is very large (13, 22).

In recent years, an explosion of association, linkage and GWA studies have been performed to find connections between diseases and genetic markers. For example, for obesity, 28 genetic loci were described in 1997 (12). Eight years later, in 2005, the number of locus suggested to be involved in the genetics behind obesity had increased to more than 600 (23).

SEX STEROIDS

Sex steroids include androgens such as testosterone (T) and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) as well as estrogens such as estradiol (E2) and estrone (E1) (Fig. 1). DHT and E2 possess the highest affinity for the androgen receptor (AR) and estrogen (ER) receptors, respectively (24). Sex steroid precursors include androstenedione, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate (DHEAS) (Fig. 1), which do not substantially bind to the AR (25). Progesterone is sometimes included as a third class of sex steroids. Serum levels of sex steroids are influenced by both genetic and



Fig. 1. Synthesis and metabolism of sex steroids in peripheral intracrine tissues. Enzymes involved are indicated. Boxed sex steroids are active and bind the AR/ER receptors. General scheme based on previous studies.

Abbreviations: DHEA = dehydroepiandrosterone, DHEAS = dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, T = testosterone, DHT= dihydrotestosterone, epiT = epitestosterone, 4-dione = androstenedione, A-dione = androstanedione, E2 = estradiol, E1 = estrone, ADT = androsterone, E2G = estradiol glucuronide, E1S = estrone sulfate, TG = T-17glucuronide, DHTG = DHT-17glucuronide, epiTG = epiT-glucuronide, ADTG = androsterone-3glucuronide, 5-diol = 5-androstene-3 β ,17 β -diol, 3 α -diol = 5 α -androstane-3 α ,17 β -diol, 3G = 3 α -diol-3glucuronide, 17G = 3 α -diol-17glucuronide, HSD = hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, CYP19 = aromatase, SULT = sulfotransferase, UGT2B = UDP glucuronosyltranferase family 2B.

environmental factors (26, 27).

Synthesis of sex steroids

All sex steroids are derived from cholesterol. DHEA is a very important prohormone secreted by the adrenals (28). Members of the cytochrome P450 (CYP450), 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 β -HSD) and 17 β -HSD enzyme families catalyze the various steps of sex steroid formation (28, 29) (Fig. 1). Aromatase (CYP19) catalyzes the aromatization of androgens to estrogens and is the rate-limiting enzyme in the biosynthesis of estrogens (29). All the enzymes required for transforming DHEA into androgens and/or estrogens are expressed in a cell-specific manner in the peripheral tissues (30-32). This means that androgens and estrogens can be produced locally. This new field of endocrinology is called *intracrinology*.

Degradation of androgens

Androgens can be degraded either into phase I metabolites (reversible) or further into phase II metabolites (irreversible). Only T and DHT have the ability to activate the AR (25, 33) and affect gene transcription.

Phase I metabolism

Degradation of sex steroids occurs in the liver and in peripheral tissues. Androgens are mainly metabolized by $3\alpha/\beta$ -HSD and 17β -HSD isoforms to metabolites with essentially no androgenic activity (e.g. androsterone (ADT) and 5α -androstane- 3α , 17β -diol (3α -diol)) (33, 34), (Fig. 1). Most androgen dependent tissues synthesize HSD isoforms capable of back-converting the phase I metabolites into DHT (35), suggesting that this is a mechanism to regulates local androgenic levels. The expression of 17β -HSD type 2 and 3α -HSD type 3 transcripts have been detected in all androgen target tissues studied so far (36-38).

Phase II metabolism

Phase I metabolites can be glucuronidated by uridine-diphosphate (UDP) glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs). This is an irreversible step which leads to a complete inactivation of the androgen, thus regulating intracellular hormone levels. The major phase II metabolites are 3α -diol-17glucuronide (17G), 3α -diol-3glucuronide (3G), and ADT-glucuronide (ADTG) (Fig. 1). Androgens can also be sulfated by sulphotransferases, but in contrast to glucuronidation sulfonation is reversible (39-42).

UGT enzymes

It is well-established that UGTs are responsible for the glucuronidation of androgens and their metabolites in humans (30, 33, 43, 44). The UGT enzymes are detoxification enzymes that transfer a glucuronosyl group from UDP-glucuronic acid to its substrate. This converts the substrate to a polar, water-soluble, less toxic conjugate that can diffuse into the circulation, and be further excreted through the kidneys. When the glucuronidated conjugates are released in the circulation, they can be measured. *In vitro*, it has been seen that the different enzymes have different substrate specificities (33, 45).

Based upon homology of the primary structure, the UGT family is categorized into two subfamilies, UGT1 and UGT2 (46, 47). There are nine functional proteins in the UGT1A1 family. UGT1A1, A3, A4, A5, A6 and A9 are expressed in the liver, while UGT1A7, A8 and A10 are expressed in the gastrointestinal tract (48). The UGT1A family glucuronidates mainly synthetic substances and pollutants and serves as the first line of metabolic defense (49). Some members of the UGT1A3 family can glucuronidate estrogens (UGT1A1) and catecholestrogens (UGT1A3) (50, 51) but they have no significant activity toward androgens (33, 38, 52).

Each UGT2 enzyme is encoded by a separate gene. Subfamily UGT2 is further divided into family UGT2A and UGT2B. Each subfamily has a high percentage of amino acid sequence homology (33). There are only two members of the UGT2A family, which are found in the olfactory system and conjugate odorant molecules (48). The human *UGT2B* genes are clustered on chromosome 4q13–21.1 (33, 38) and encode seven functional enzymes. Of the functional UGT2B enzymes, there are three which are reported to glucuronidate androgen with high capacity, namely UGT2B7, 2B15 and 2B17 (33, 52). These three UGT enzymes are currently thought to be the major enzymes responsible for conjugating of all androgens in humans.

Expression and specificity of the androgen conjugating UGT2B enzymes **UGT2B7**

UGT2B7 has been found in the intestine, liver, kidney, skin, brain, uterus and mammary gland, but not in prostate or adipose tissue (52). UGT2B7 conjugates the 3-position of 3α -diol but not the 17-position. ADT, with a hydroxyl group at the 3-position is also a good substrate for UGT2B7, whereas DHT and T, which only have a hydroxyl group at the 17-position are both poor substrates for UGT2B7 (33).

The efficiency of the UGT2B7 enzyme toward 3α -diol is almost tenfold higher than for ADT (52) (Fig 2). However, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 also glucuronidate 3α -diol, but at the 17-hydroxy position, and these two enzymes seem to be more efficient than UGT2B7 (53) (Fig. 2). The UGT2B7 enzyme also has the capacity to glucuronidate glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids (54-56).



3α-diol-17glucuronide

Fig. 2. Specificity of UGT2B7, UGTB15 and UGTB17 for testosterone, dihydrotestosterone, androsterone and 5α -androstane- 3α , 17β -diol (based on in vitro data). The G represents glucuronidation.

There is a C to T polymorphism at nucleotide 802, which changes the amino acid histidine (H268) to a tyrosine (Y268) in the *UGT2B7* gene (57). No difference in activity between the two variants was seen *in vitro* (57). Paper II investigated this polymorphism in relation to the glucuronidation pattern and bone mass in young adult men.

UGT2B15

Expression of UGT2B15 has been found in the liver, kidney, skin, mammary gland, uterus and prostate. As the only androgen conjugating UGT enzyme, UGT2B15 is also expressed in adipose tissue (58). UGT2B15 conjugates at the 17-hydroxy position and therefore has the capacity to glucuronidate 3a-diol and DHT with high and moderate efficiency, respectively (52) (Fig. 2). In vitro studies have indicated that Т is also glucuronidated by UGT2B15. UGT2B15 can glucuronidate catecholestrogens and hydroxyestrones as well, but to a much lower efficiency than androgens (33).

There is a G to T polymorphism in the *UGT2B15* gene, resulting in an aspartate (D85) to a tyrosine (Y85) amino acid change at position 85 (47). Previous *in vitro* studies have given inconsistent results, describing both increased (59) and decreased (60) glucuronidation activity for the D85 variant compared to the Y85 variant. Several studies investigated the association between the D⁸⁵Y polymorphism and prostate cancer (60-63), but with conflicting results. Paper I investigated this polymorphism in relation to the glucuronidation pattern and fat mass in young adult and elderly men.

UGT2B17

UGT2B17 has been isolated in the liver, kidney, skin, mammary gland, uterus and prostate (44). The sequence homology between UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 is high (96%), but UGT2B17 has broader specificity (44). From *in vitro* studies it was determined that UGT2B17 can glucudonidate both at the 3-hydroxy position and at the 17-hydroxy position, which means that it can glucuronidate 3α -diol and DHT as well as ADT (Fig. 2). UGT2B17 has the highest capacity to conjugate DHT, followed by T. Compared to UGT2B15, UGT2B17 is 6-10-fold more active toward DHT and T (52). UGT2B17 is reported to glucuronidate ADT and is considered the major ADT-conjugating enzyme (33). The efficiency of UGT2B17 to conjugate 3α -diol is in the range as for UGT2B17 only results in the production of 3α -diol-17-glucuronide, indicating a major difference in specificity between the enzymes (33, 44).

A 150kb deletion polymorphism spanning the whole *UGT2B17* gene has been described (64, 65). It was shown that the deletion is strongly associated with urinary T levels and the urinary T to epiT ratio, commonly used in antidoping programs (66). The deletion was also studied in relation to prostate cancer, two confirming an association (60, 67), while two large population-based studies could not see such an association (68, 69). Paper I investigated this polymorphism in relation to the glucuronidation pattern and fat mass in young adult and elderly men.

Degradation of estrogens

Estrogens can be reversibly converted to catecholestrogens by CYP450 enzymes (70). Sulfonation is another way to convert estrogens and these estrogen sulfates are more water soluble (71) and represent a form of storage that acts as precursors of E2 and E1. Glucuronidation of estrogens is irreversible and leads to complete inactivation (40) (Fig. 1).

Mechanisms of action of sex steroids and their receptors

The AR and ERs belong to the nuclear receptor family and are DNA-binding proteins. There are different pathways through which sex steroids can exert their action. Androgens bind to the AR while estrogens bind to the estrogen receptors (ER α and β). Androgens can exert their effects either directly via the AR or by binding the ER after aromatization to E2.

The *classical direct genomic pathway* involves direct binding of the sex steroid to the receptors. After binding of the ligand, the receptor conformation is altered, the receptor dimerizes with another receptor and enters the nucleus of the cell. Following recruitment of co-factors, the receptor complex binds to androgen responsive elements (AREs), or estrogen responsive elements (EREs), present in the promoter of the genes (72, 73).

The *non-classical indirect genomic pathway* includes binding of a steroid to the receptor. However, instead of DNA binding, the receptor interacts directly with transcription factors, which in turn bind to DNA and regulate transcription. Thus, this pathway involves gene regulation by indirect DNA binding (72, 74).

The *non-genomic pathway with rapid effect* involves the activation of a yet not identified receptor, possibly attached to the cell membrane. For estrogens, G protein-coupled receptor 30 (GPR30) as well as $ER\alpha/\beta$ have been suggested as a mediators

of the rapid effects (72, 75). The signaling cascade involves second messengers and the response occurs within seconds or minutes without involving gene regulation (72).

Finally, the *ligand-independent pathway* involves activation by phosphorylation of the receptors or associated coregulators in the absence of a ligand. This pathway involves gene regulation (72).

Binding of sex steroids to plasma proteins

T and E2 circulate in the plasma in large bound to plasma proteins (76). T and E2 bind albumin in a nonspecific manner and to sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) in a specific and stronger manner (77). Only a small percentage of the circulationg levels of T and E2 are unbound and this constitutes the free fraction. The fraction bound to albumin, plus the free fraction, is considered the bioavailable fraction (or non-SHBG bound fraction) (78). When bound to SHBG, the sex steroid is prevented from entering the cell since the complex is too large to cross the capillary barrier. In men, but not in women, there is a marked increase in SHBG levels with age (79) which means that the levels of bioactive sex steroids decrease, although the total levels of sex steroids might stay the same (77).

Calculation of serum levels of sex steroid

Free, or bioavailable, sex steroid levels in serum can be measured or calculated theoretically. Using a method described by Vermeulen et al. (78) and van den Beld et al. (77) free T (FT) can be calculated using mass action equations. The method is taking the concentration of total T, total E2, and SHBG into account while assuming a fixed albumin concentration of 43g/liter.

INTRACRINOLOGY

As mentioned in the general introduction, *intracrinology* is a rather new concept in endocrine physiology (30, 80). After several reports of lack of consistency between the serum levels of sex steroids and the incidence of disease like obesity, prostate cancer and breast cancer (81-85), the clinical significance of measurements of total as well as free sex steroids in serum was in doubt. Labrie et al. suggested that the lack of correlation could be related to that the majority of androgens are made locally in the peripheral target tissues from the inactive precursor DHEA of adrenal origin (30, 83, 86). All the enzymes responsible for both the synthesis and the degradation of androgens are present locally within the peripheral cells. This means that the androgens made locally do not only originate from T in the circulation (Fig. 3) and therefore it is reasonable to expect that measurement of the serum levels of T is of questionable significance (87). The androgens made locally exert their action in the same cell in which their synthesis take place, with only minimal release of active androgen into the circulation (30) (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Schematic figure of the principle of intracrinology and the formation of glucuronidated androgen metabolites in humans. Thickness of the arrows corresponds to the diffusion rate of the prohormone/androgen/glucuronidated androgen metabolite.

Instead, glucuronidated metabolites (3G, 17G and ADTG) in the circulation resulting from the local degradation of androgens, can all be measured before their elimination by the kidneys, and have been proposed to be better indicators of local intratissular androgen activity (Fig. 3) (see Paper III and IV). We can now, for the first time, measure and distinguish these three major glucuronidated metabolites of androgens in serum.

Testosterone/epitestosterone ratio

In addition to being a better indicator of intracellular androgen levels, measurements of serum levels of glucuronidated androgen metabolites, and urine levels of androgens (>99% glucuronidated (88)), are also found to be more useful when it comes to other areas than disease. For example, the urine levels of T divided by the urine levels of epitestosterone (epiT) is now a commonly used ratio in international antidoping test programs (66). EpiT is the 17α epimer of T and not a metabolite of T, and has no known physiological function (89). T in urine is mostly found in its glucuronidated form (90). A deletion polymorphism in the UGT2B17 gene was studied in relation to the T/epiT ratio (66). The study indicated that individuals homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion had no or negligible amounts of urinary T (66). Jakobsson et al. also found that there were serious interethnic differences in urine T levels between Caucasian and Asian men. This was in accordance with the fact that the UGT2B17 deletion genotype was more common in Asian men than in Caucasians (10% in Caucasians, 65% in Asians) (66). This opens up the possibility for an explanation of the differences in androgen levels previously seen between Asian and Caucasian men (91, 92). One can speculate that changes in the ability to synthesize and degrade androgens may account for other interethnic differences when it comes to association between androgens, androgen metabolites and disease.

THE SKELETON

The human skeleton is comprised of 213 bones and offers support to the body, protects vital organs and serves as the main reservoir of calcium. The skeleton also serves as an attachment for muscles, supporting motion and is a rich source of growth factors and cytokines.

The adult bone consists mainly (~70%) of inorganic material, and 95% of this is made up of hydroxyapatite. About 20% of the skeleton is organic material, and 98% of this is type I collagen and other proteins such as osteocalcin, bone sialoproteins and osteonectin. The remaining 2% of the organic fraction is made up of bone cells; osteoblasts of mesenchymal origin responsible for bone formation, osteoclasts of hematopoietic origin responsible for bone resorption and osteocytes, which represents the terminal differentiation stage of the osteblasts, involved in the support of the bone structure and metabolic functions. The remaining 5-8% of the bone consists of water and lipids (93).



There are two main types of bones; flat bones such as the skull and long bones such as the femur and tibia. The long bones are built up like a tube (diaphysis) which flares at the ends. The diaphysis is mainly made up of cortical bone while the ends mainly consist of trabecular bone. The growth plate is found in the middle of the wider ends and the area below

Fig 4. Schematic view of a longitudinal section of a long bone.

the growth plate is called metaphysis, while the area above the growth plate is called the epiphysis (Fig. 4).

The adult skeleton consists of both cortical bone and trabecular bone, but the relative proportions vary between different sites. Cortical bone is mainly found on the outside of the long bones, and serves as a mechanical and protective layer. The vertebrae and the pelvis, as well as the metaphysis of the long bones, are mainly made up by trabecular bone which is generally considered to be more metabolically active and is therefore more sensitive to stimuli such as hormones or drugs. All outer bone surfaces are covered by a fibrous sheath, called the periosteum, containing blood vessels, nerves, osteoblasts and osteoclasts. The inner surfaces of the long bones are covered by a membranous sheath, the endosteum, containing blood vessels, osteoblasts and osteoclasts. The surface of the trabecular bone as well (93) (Fig. 4).

Bone growth

Adult stature and skeletal maturation are significantly influenced by genetic factors, up to 70% has been suggested to be under genetic control, but nutritional and hormonal factors are also important. Prepubertal growth is a relatively stable process mainly governed by the thyroid hormones and the growth hormone (GH)/insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I axis (94, 95). As puberty approaches and continues, there is a sudden acceleration in growth velocity; the pubertal growth spurt. On average, girls enter and complete each stage of puberty earlier than boys. The shorter duration of prepubertal growth contributes to that girls, in general, are shorter than boys (94). Also, men have greater peak bone mass than women mainly due to increased periosteal expansion during sexual maturation, which give men greater bone size (longer and wider bones) (96). The timing of puberty has been reported to predict both cortical and trabecular volumetric BMD (vBMD) in young adult men (97).

Puberty is triggered by an increased pulsatile secretion of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (Gn-RH) by the hypothalamus, leading to increased secretion of gonadotropins (luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH)) from the pituitary, which in turn leads to an increased production of sex steroids by the gonads (98). The increase in serum E2 leads to further increased IGF-I levels and together, the changed levels of GH, IGF-I and E2 support the pubertal growth spurt (99). In both sexes, closure of the epiphyseal growth plate is induced by E2 (96), thus E2 both initiates and ends the pubertal growth spurt (99). For about four years after puberty, the high levels of GH and IGF-I are maintained, but then decreases gradually, although the sex steroids remain at adult levels (99).

Previously it was believed that androgens were responsible for bone growth in males, while estrogens were responsible for bone growth in females. However, the importance of E2 for growth also in males was understood after case reports of a man homozygous for a lack-of-function deletion in the ER α gene (100) and of men with complete aromatase deficiency (101, 102). These men were tall and had unfused epiphyses and marked osteopenia. The phenotype of the aromatase-deficient men was reversed when treated with E2 (101). On the other hand, males with androgen insensitivity had reduced BMD, which leads to the conclusion that both estrogens and androgens are important for optimal bone growth and mineral accrual (103).

Age-related bone loss

Age-related changes of the skeleton include a large decrease in BMD at the spine, femur neck, distal radius and tibia. The decrease is smaller in men than in women. Aging is associated with an increased periosteal circumference of the bone. Although periosteal apposition continues through life, the endosteal resorption increases with age, leading to a net decrease in cortical area and thickness for both men and women (104). However, men add about 3-fold more bone in the periosteal apposition process during life than do women, which leads to that women have less strong bones (99).

Both observational and prospective studies in men have, in general, shown that serum E2 is a stronger predictor of BMD than serum T (77, 79, 105-113). Furthermore, in an interventional study by Falahati-Nini et al. using E2 or T treatment in aging men with eliminated endogenous E2 and T, it was shown that E2 inhibits bone resorption, whereas both E2 and T are important for maintaining bone formation (114). This finding might explain why BMD is more strongly associated with serum E2 than with serum T in men. Recently, in a study by Mellström et al. (115), using mass spectrometry (MS) to measure sex steroids, it was shown that low serum E2, low serum T, and high serum SHBG levels associated with increased risk of fractures.

OSTEOPOROSIS IN MEN

Osteoporosis is a skeletal disorder, characterized by low bone mass and disturbed microarchitecture of the bone. The disease has traditionally been considered a problem for postmenopausal women. However, osteoporosis is an important health problem for both genders. Fractures represent the primary clinical consequence of osteoporosis, and the risk of an osteoporosis related fracture in Sweden, at the age of 50, is around 40% for women, and 20% for men (116). Considering the risks, it seems like men are partly protected against osteoporosis and osteoporosis-related fractures (117). Therefore, studying the male skeleton may lead to new ideas for treatment and prevention of osteoporosis in both men and women.

OBESITY

Obesity is caused by a long-term imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure, leading to excessive fat accumulation (118). Obesity has reached epidemic proportions globally and the World Health Organization (WHO) has stated it as a major risk factor for a number of chronic diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and cancer (118). In Sweden, about 10-15% of the

population is obese (119). This is still low in an international perspective; globally, 400 million adults are obese and 1.6 billion adults are overweight or obese. Overweight and obesity are generally defined using the body mass index (BMI; body weight in kilograms/height in meters squared; kg/m²). Individuals with normal weight have a BMI of 18.5-25, overweight individuals have a BMI >25 and obese individuals have a BMI >30 (118). Obesity is caused both by environmental and genetic factors. For example, studies have attributed at least 50% of the variation in BMI to genetic factors (120-124). The 2005 human obesity gene map (23) includes >600 loci including data from single-gene mutations in mouse models of obesity, nonsyndromic human obesity cases due to single-gene mutations, obesity-related Mendelian disorders that have been mapped, transgenic and KO mice models, and genome-wide scans, and genes or markers that have been shown to be associated or linked with an obesity phenotype. The large number of genes and loci described in the obesity gene map is a good indication of the complexity of the task of identifying genes associated with the susceptibility to obesity. The most recent GWA studies have discovered 15 new loci associated to BMI (19, 125-127). The function of these candidate genes in associated regions supports the notion of a role for the hypothalamus in the genetics of obesity. At present, 1% of obesity is proposed to be explained by the current observed genetic variation determined using GWA studies (125).

Obesity has been suggested to be associated to increased bone mass (128-130). However, these studies did not control for the mechanical loading effects of body weight on bone mass. When this was accounted for, the positive correlation between fat mass and bone mass previously seen was in some studies inverted to a negative correlation (131).

Research in recent years has identified adipose tissue not only as a storage place for excess energy, but also as a highly active endocrine organ secreting several hormones and peptides. The identification of factors involved in obesity is important to be able to better understand the disease. Distribution of body fat differs according to gender. Men tend to accumulate fat in the abdomen (visceral area) whereas women tend to accumulate fat in the gluteal-femoral region (132). Sex steroid levels are altered in upper body obesity (133). For example, abdominal obesity (134-136) and visceral fat accumulation (137) in men were in general associated to lower serum levels of T. Serum levels of 3α -diol-glucudonides were reported to be positively associated with adiposity and visceral fat accumulation (139), while weight loss decreased the 3α -diol-glucudonides levels (140).

Type 2 diabetes mellitus

Obesity is a major determinant of the incidence of type 2 diabetes. Type 2 diabetes is a heterogeneous disorder that occurs with increasing frequency with age and increased body weight. The disease is associated with insulin resistance (141).

The metabolic syndrome

Obesity is a major risk factor for the metabolic syndrome. The metabolic syndrome is defined by a cluster of risk factors, highly associated with development of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The term metabolic syndrome first appeared in 1923 (142). The risk factors have been reevaluated several times and include abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, high plasma triglycerides, low HDL cholesterol and/or hypertension (143). Reduced plasma levels of T are associated with increased number of features of the metabolic syndrome in men (144-147).

AIMS OF THE THESIS

The specific aims of this thesis were:

To characterize genetic variations associated with substrate-specific glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites:

 Polymorphisms in enzymes (UGT2B15, UGT2B17 and UGT2B7), which have been shown *in vitro* to be involved in glucuronidation of androgens, will be validated in large population-based cohorts (Paper I and II).

To explore the impact of androgen metabolites and polymorphisms associated with glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites on bone mass:

- The role of androgen metabolites as predictors of BMD (Paper III).
- The role of polymorphisms associated with glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites as determinants of bone mass (Paper II).

To explore the impact of androgen metabolites and polymorphisms associated with glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites on fat mass and metabolic risk factors:

- The role of androgen metabolites as predictors of fat mass and metabolic risk factors (Paper IV).
- The role of polymorphisms associated with glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites as determinants of fat mass (Paper I).

METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

HUMAN COHORTS

Male osteoporosis is less studied than female osteoporosis. Therefore, two male cohorts were initiated, one with young adult men from Gothenburg and one international multicenter study with elderly men from Sweden, USA and Hong Kong. The purpose in young adult men was to determine both genetic and environmental predictors of peak bone mass while the purpose in elderly men was to establish the diagnostic criteria of osteoporosis for men. WHO previously established such a criteria only for women.

Thus, we first measured the glucuronidated androgen metabolites in both male cohorts. We have now initiated studies where we measure the glucuronidated androgen metabolites also in females. This thesis does not include the female studies.

| Variables | COHORT | |
|--------------------------|-------------|-----------------|
| | GOOD | MrOS Gothenburg |
| Number of subjects | 1068 | 1001 |
| Age (years) | 18.9 ± 0.6 | 75.3 ± 3.2 |
| Smokers (%) | 8.7 | 8.0 |
| Height (cm) | 181.4 ± 6.7 | 175.7 ± 6.4 |
| Weight (kg) | 73.8 ± 11.9 | 80.9 ±12.2 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 22.4 ± 3.2 | 26.2 ± 3.5 |

Table 1. Characteristics of the study subjects in the GOOD and MrOS studies.Values are given as means ± SD.

The GOOD study

The Gothenburg Osteoporosis and Obesity Determinants (GOOD) study was initiated to determine environmental and genetic factors involved in the regulation of bone and fat mass (148). Study subjects were randomly identified using national population registers, contacted by telephone, and invited to participate. Altogether, 1068 men (aged 18.9 ± 0.6 years) were included in the study. Except for the age limits (subjects had to be >18 and <20 years of age), there was no exclusion criterion. The participation rate among contacted candidates was 48.6%. Informed consent was

obtained from all participants. A standardized questionnaire gathered information on present and former physical activity (PA), nutritional intake, smoking status, fracture history and fracture history in the subject's family was collected. Blood and urine samples were collected from all study participants. Bone properties and body composition were investigated using DXA and pQCT (148).

The GOOD study is used in Paper I, II and IV.

Due to careful phenotyping, the population-based recruitment, the narrow age range, and the relatively large number of study subjects, the GOOD study is one of its' kind.

The MrOS study

The Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) study in Sweden is part of an international study including elderly men in Sweden (n=3014), Hong Kong (≅2000) and the United States (≅6000). MrOS Sweden is a population-based study with three study centers; Göteborg=1010, Malmö=1005, and Uppsala=999. Men aged 69–80 were randomly identified using national population registers, contacted and invited to participate. To be eligible for the study, the subjects had to be able to walk without aids, understand and fill out the study questionnaire in Swedish and have no bilateral hip prosthesis. There were no other exclusion criteria. An informed consent was obtained from all study participants. Of those who were invited, 45 % agreed to participate in the study (109). A standardized questionnaire gathered information on current PA, nutritional intake, smoking status, and fracture history was collected. Bone properties and body composition were investigated using DXA. Blood and urine samples were collected from all study participants.

Papers I and IV used the Göteborg cohort of MrOS Sweden. Paper III was written while the glucuronidated androgen metabolites were being measured. Therefore, a sub sample (n=631) that was first measured of the Göteborg part of the MrOS Sweden study was used in this study. The average age of the subjects in this sub-sample was slightly higher than in the whole Göteborg cohort (75.9 versus 75.3 years of age, p<0.05) while their height (175.4 cm versus 175.7 cm) and body weight (80.9 kg versus 81.0 kg) were similar as in the whole Göteborg cohort.

The large number of study subjects and the population-based nature of the MrOS study make it a unique cohort.

IN VIVO IMAGING TECHNIQUES



Fig. 5. DXA scan of whole body.

Dual-energy X-ray absortiometry (DXA)

DXA is a widely used non-invasive technique for investigation of bone and body composition in humans as well as animals. The current criteria for the diagnosis of osteoporosis are based on this technique by measuring BMD.

The DXA can distinguish between soft tissues and bone since the emitted X-ray is divided into two different levels by a filter, and different tissues absorb the energy to different degrees; a dual-energy spectrum is created. Sensors detect the amount of energy absorbed when the X-ray passes through the body. The use of two energies allows bone mineral to be assessed independently of soft tissue (Fig. 5). The radiation dose is rather low, less than 1/10 of the dose of a chest X-ray.

DXA measurements can provide the area, the bone mineral content (BMC) and BMD for individual bones as well as the whole body of the study subject. One drawback when using DXA for the determination of bone mass is that it is two-dimensional, thus only accounts for changes in length and width. The BMD determined is therefore an *areal*-BMD (aBMD; g/cm²). This quantity is the amount of bone mineral per area unit and not the true vBMD (g/cm³) which is the amount of mineral per volume unit. This means that a thicker bone will inevitably have a higher aBMD than a thinner bone. Fat and lean mass can also be separately measured by DXA.

In Paper I and IV, the DXA technique was used to measure fat mass, lean mass and percent body fat of the whole body and fat mass of the trunk, as well as upper and lower extremities. Central fat mass was calculated as trunk fat/total body fat x 100. In Paper III, DXA was used to assess aBMD of the whole body, total hip, femoral trochanter, femoral neck, and lumbar spine.

Peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT)

pQCT is a useful technique for the measurement of bone, fat and muscle in humans as well as animals. The radiation dose is somewhat higher than for DXA, but is considered safe since radiation to the central body is low.



*Fig. 6. p*QCT of the metaphysis of the distal tibia.

The technique is based on a rotating Xray source which moves to fixed positions around the arm or leg that is being measured. A computer processes local attenuation data from each position and produces an image which represents a section of the body part being measured. The pQCT is superior to the DXA technique since it allows cortical and trabecular bone to be

studied separately (Fig. 6). In addition, it is a 3D-technique, making it possible to measure true vBMD and the bone dimensions.

The diaphysis of bone consists almost only of cortical bone and here periosteal (outer) and endosteal (inner) circumference can be measured and accordingly cortical bone mineral content, cortical thickness, cortical cross-sectional area, cortical BMC, and cortical vBMD can be determined (Paper II). The metaphysis consists almost only of trabecular bone and here trabecular vBMD can be measured in the central part of the bone. The growth plate is used as a reference point in determining where to place the scan along the longitudinal axis.

The pQCT technique is also successfully used for the precise measurement of crosssectional areas of deep and subcutaneous adipose tissue at any site of the body (149). We used pQCT to determine the cross-sectional subcutaneous adipose tissue of the legs and arms (Paper IV).

Abdominal computed tomography (CT)

This technique uses the same principle as the pQCT described above. It is used to determine the cross-sectional adipose areas of the abdomen. including subcutaneous fat. deep subcutaneous fat. intra-abdominal fat, intra-and retroperitoneal fat. Liver attenuation, which is inversely associated with the amount of fat in the liver, is also measured. The study subject lies in a recumbent position and the adipose tissue areas are measured at the fourth lumbar vertebra level (Paper IV).

Measurement of prostate volume

Prostate volume is measured with transrectal ultrasound (TRUS), using an ultrasonic device (Paper III). The patient lies on his left side with flexed hip and knee joints. Three prostatic diameters are measured; transverse, anterior-posterior, and craniocaudal. Prostate volume is calculated using the formula for prolate ellipsoid, as described by Collins et al. (150).

DETERMINATION OF GENETIC VARIATIONS

DNA isolation

In both cohorts, genomic DNA was isolated from whole blood using commercial kits.

Genetic polymorphism analysis

Allelic discrimination

The development in SNP genotyping has been very rapid and there are several techniques that offer high throughput at a low cost. In Paper I and II, allelic discrimination was used for genotyping the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y and the UGT2B7 H^{268} Y SNP, respectively.

The allelic discrimination technique involves designing specific primers for the DNA area of interest. Site specific probes are also designed, one for each allele of the SNP. Each probe is labeled with a reporter dye (VIC or FAM). The probes are also labeled with a quencher, which prevents the fluorescent dye to emit light. When the reaction starts, the primers and probes bind to the area which they are designed for. While moving along the DNA, the polymerase in the PCR reaction encounters the probe and by its 5' nuclease activity cleaves its quencher. The probe is permitted to emit light, which is recorded. The genotype of the study sample is determined based on the relationship between the fluorescence of the two reporter dyes. This is easily visualized by an allelic discrimination scatterplot. FAM light appears on the Y scale and VIC light on the X scale (Fig. 7). Samples are run on plates with 384 wells.


Fig. 7. An allelic discrimination plot of individuals genotyped for the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y SNP. Blue dots represent the YY subjects, green dots represent the DY subjects and red dots represent the DD subjects. Black dots are negative control samples (water).

Fragment Analysis

Since the UGT2B17 polymorphism is a deletion, the allelic discrimination technique cannot be used. Instead, a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) followed by fragment analysis was used to identify the *UGT2B17* gene, while a PCR followed by separation on gel was used to identify the deletion. Primers and probe were designed based on those from Wilson et al. (64).

Briefly, the size of the *UGT2B17* gene PCR fragment was determined by fragment analysis on a capillary instrument, after addition of a fragment marker and size standard, and then further analyzed through the computer software Gene Mapper. The presence or the absence of the gene was confirmed. For identification of the deletion, a separate PCR was run and the product from this deletion PCR was manually analyzed on an agarose gel containing ethidium bromide and visualized under UV fluorescence.

Using this methodology, the whole MrOS Gothenburg cohort in Paper I was genotyped for the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism. Due to massive manual workload (PCR product separation on gel for the deletion detection), this polymorphism was only analyzed in a randomized sub-sample (n=615) of the GOOD cohort; only those not found having the *UGT2B17* gene in the initial PCR and fragment analysis were chosen for the UGT2B17 homozygous deletion allele identification by an additional PCR followed by gel separation.

Thus, for the MrOS Gothenburg cohort the genotype for the UGT2B17 polymorphism is given as homozygous for deletion, homozygous for the gene (wild type) or heterozygous, while for the individuals in the GOOD cohort we give the genotype as homozygous for the deletion or homozygous for the gene together with heterozygous individuals. Importantly, none of the parameters investigated showed any difference between the subjects heterozygous for the gene and homozygous for the gene in the MrOS Gothenburg cohort.

SERUM AND URINE MEASUREMENTS

Mass spectrometry (MS)

The validated and highly-specific MS technique was used in our studies to measure unconjugated sex steroid precursors (DHEA, DHEAS, 4-dione, 5-diol), sex steroids (T, DHT, E1, E2) and conjugated androgen metabolites (3G, 17G, ADTG) in serum (paper I-IV) as well as conjugated androgens in urine (TG, DHTG, epiT) and E1 sulfate (E1S) (paper I, II). The MS technique is more specific than radioimmunoassays (RIAs) due to identification based on mass-to-charge ratio.

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)

In our studies, the GC-MS technique was used to measure the conjugated steroids in urine and the unconjugated steroids in serum. All urinary values are expressed as the

unconjugated (typically less than 1% of the glucuronide fraction (88)) plus the glucuronidated fraction.

Briefly, the procedure of extracting conjugated steroids from urine consists of an initial addition of an internal standard (methylT) to 2 ml of sample, followed by enzymatic hydrolysis with β -glucuronidase to remove the conjugates. After extraction, the hydrolyzed steroids are derivatized to improve sensitivity. The derivatized steroids are then analyzed by GC-MS (66).

Steroids in serum are first removed from their binding protein (albumin, SHBG). After addition of an internal standard to 0.74 ml of serum sample, the steroids are extracted to the organic phase and purified over a column to avoid interference. After extraction and ionization by soft negative ionization, which decreases the fragmentation and also increases sensitivity further, the steroids are analyzed by GC-MS (87).

Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)

We used LC-MS/MS to measure serum levels of the glucuronidated androgen metabolites as well as sulphated estrogens and sulphated sex steroid precursors. After initial addition of citric acid buffer to stabilize the glucuronide, an internal standard is added to 0.5 ml of serum sample. The steroids are purified and separated on a column and injected to the LC-MS/MS, no derivatization is required. Ionization is accomplished by negative electrospray ionization to remove fluid and transform the COOH group in the glucuronide into COO⁻ group (87).

Serum/plasma assays

Commercial immunoassay-based techniques were used to measure the total fraction of T and SHBG as well as LH, FSH, IGF-I and leptin and the samples were run in duplicates. Free T and bioavailable T were calculated according to the method described by Vermeulen et al (78) and van den Beld et al. (77), using mass action equations, taking the concentration of total T and SHBG into account and assuming a fixed albumin concentration of 43g/liter. The measured and calculated levels of free T (FT) and bioactive T are highly correlated (78). Serum lipid analysis was performed on a Konelab autoanalyzer. Total cholesterol and triglyceride levels were determined in fasting serum. HDL was determined after precipitation of ApoB-containing lipoproteins with magnesium sulphate and dextran sulphate. LDL was calculated Friedewald's formula. ApoB and ApoA1 determined using were by immunoprecipitation.

Fasting serum insulin was measured with an immunometric method based on chemiluminescence technology. Fasting plasma glucose was quantified by an enzymatic method. Homeostatis model assessment (HOMA) index was calculated as the product of the fasting serum insulin level (microU/ml) and fasting plasma glucose level (mmol/l), divided by 22.5.

STATISTICS

In all papers, standardized β -values were used and values were given as means ± standard deviation (SD).

Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was tested using χ^2 analysis (Papers I-II). When comparing continuous variables, such as serum and urine measurements between the different genotypes, ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post hoc test, was used (Paper I and II). The independent predictive value of the polymorphisms for fat mass and serum parameters was investigated by linear regression, including age (Paper I), and for cortical bone parameters, height, weight, age, smoking, calcium intake, and physical activity as covariates (Paper II). To analyze any differences in activity between the two variants of the UGT2B7 enzyme in the enzymatic assay (Paper II), a Student t-test was used.

Correlation analysis in all four papers was performed with Pearson's correlation after log transformation of non-normally distributed variables. Linear regression models were used to analyze the predictive value of androgens and androgen metabolites for BMD, using height, weight, age, calcium intake, physical activity and smoking as covariates (Paper III). For prostate volume, height, weight and age were used as covariates (Paper III). Age was used as a covariate in the linear regression model to investigate the predictive value for DHT and 17G for fat mass, insulin resistance and serum lipids (Paper IV). Logistic regression analysis was used to calculate odds ratios (per SD, 95% confidence intervals given), and determine the predictive value of 17G/DHT ratio for overweight, obesity, insulin resistance and prevalent diabetes. Subjects with diabetes were excluded from regression analysis regarding insulin resistance (Paper IV).

RESULTS AND COMMENTS

PAPER I

UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 genotype, glucuronidation pattern of androgens and body composition

To investigate the glucuronidation pattern of UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 as well as the associations between UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 genotypes and serum levels of glucuronidated androgen metabolites and fat mass in young adult and elderly men, we used the GOOD study (n=1068) and the MrOS study (n=1001). The androgens and glucuronidated androgen metabolites were measured by GC-MS and LC-MS/MS, respectively. Body composition was measured by DXA.

Results

- There was no linkage between the UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 polymorphisms.
- The UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms were associated to serum levels of 17G, in both young adult and elderly men.
- Urine levels of T and DHT were associated to the UGT2B17 deletion but not with the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism.
- Subjects with the UGT2B15 YY genotype had lower serum levels of 17G (-33% in elderly men, -33% in young adult men, p<0.001) and the UGT2B17 del/del genotype had lower serum levels of 17G (-37%, p<0.001), and urine levels of TG (-93%, p<0.001) and DHTG (-43%, p<0.015; by ANOVA).
- Linear regression analysis adjusted for age, indicated that the UGT2B17 polymorphism was associated to BMI, body weight, total body fat and trunk fat in elderly men (p<0.05), while the UGT2B15 polymorphism was associated with fat parameter in both elderly and young adult men (p<0.05).
- Subjects with the UGT2B15 YY genotype and the UGT2B17 del/del genotype had higher BMI and increased amount of fat.
- The UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism was a predictor of insulin resistance (HOMA index) and serum levels of insulin in the elderly cohort.

In conclusion, both the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are associated with serum levels of 17G. The UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism but not the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y polymorphism is associated with urine levels of T and DHT.

Importantly, only UGT2B17 has the capacity to glucuronidate T. Both the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are associated to fat mass and metabolic risk factors in men.

PAPER II

UGT2B7 genotype, glucuronidation pattern of androgens and bone mass

To determine the glucuronidation pattern by UGT2B7 and the association between the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism genotypes and serum levels of androgens/androgen metabolites and bone parameters in young adult men, we used the GOOD study. The androgens and glucuronidated androgen metabolites were measured by GC-MS and LC-MS/MS, respectively. Bone mass and structure were assessed by pQCT.

Results

- The UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism was associated to serum levels of the sex steroids T, DHT and E2 as well as the metabolites 3G and 17G.
- Subjects with the UGT2B7 YY genotype had higher serum levels of T and DHT and also of 3G and 17G (p<0.05).
- Linear regression analysis found the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism to be an independent predictor of cortical bone parameters, such as periosteal and endosteal circumference (p<0.01, adjusted for height, weight, age, smoking, calcium intake, physical activity). The association remained significant after addition of E2 and FT to the regression model.
- Subjects homozygous for the UGT2B7 Y allele had larger cortical bone size, reflected by larger periosteal circumference and higher cortical moment of inertia (p<0.05).

In conclusion, the UGT2B7 H^{268} Y polymorphism is associated to serum levels of T and DHT and to the glucuronidation pattern of 3G. The UGT2B7 H^{268} Y polymorphism is a predictor of cortical bone size in young adult men.

PAPER III

Androgen metabolites and bone mass

To investigate the role of androgens and androgen metabolites as predictors for bone mass in elderly men, a randomized subsample of the MrOS Gothenburg study was used (n=631). The androgens and glucuronidated androgen metabolites were measured by GC-MS and LC-MS/MS, respectively. Bone parameters were measured by DXA.

Results

- The androgen metabolites 3G and 17G were stronger predictors of BMD than the bioactive androgens.
- Linear regression analyses showed that 17G and 3G were independent predictors of the different BMD sites (adjusted for age, height, weight, calcium intake, physical activity and smoking).
- The sum of 3G+17G explained a larger part of the variance (2.8%) in BMD than the metabolites alone (3G=2.1%, 17G=2.0%).
- 17G was also a positive predictor of prostate volume (n=159; Pearson's correlation, r=0.21) and the metabolite explained 4.5% of the variance.
- Linear regression analyses showed that 17G, but not 3G or ADTG, was an independent predictor of prostate volume (adjusted for age, height, weight; β =0.19, p<0.05).

In conclusion, the androgen metabolites 17G and 3G are associated to BMD in elderly men, and are stronger predictors of BMD than the bioactive androgens. The metabolite 17G is also a predictor of prostate volume.

PAPER IV

Androgen metabolites, fat mass and metabolic risk factors

To investigate the role of serum levels of androgens and androgen metabolites as predictors for fat mass and metabolic risk factors in young adult and elderly men, the GOOD study and MrOS study were used. Fat mass was measured by DXA in both cohorts. In addition, in the GOOD study, fat mass in arm and leg was measured by pQCT and cross-sectional adipose tissue was measured by abdominal CT. Leptin,

insulin, glucose and lipids were measured. The androgens and glucuronidated androgen metabolites were analyzed by GC-MS and LC-MS/MS, respectively.

Results

- Inverse rather strong associations between DHT and T and body weight, BMI, serum leptin and all measurements of total body as well as region-specific fat deposits were found in both young adult and elderly men.
- DHT, but not T, was found to be independently and negatively associated with fat mass in both young adult and elderly men.
- A clear positive association was found between 17G and most fat deposits and central fat distribution in both young adult and elderly men.
- DHT was negatively, while 17G was positively correlated with serum insulin and HOMA index in elderly men. 17G was also negatively associated with HDL cholesterol and ApoA1 and positively with triglycerides.
- When including both DHT and 17G in a linear regression model, a larger part of the variance in total body fat (14%) was explained in both young adult and elderly men, in comparison to analyzing DHT and 17G separately.
- The 17G/DHT ratio was rather strongly associated with all fat deposits in both young adult (r=0.22-0.36) and elderly men (r=0.24-0.42), explaining 12% and 15% of the variance in total body fat, respectively.
- The 17G/DHT ratio was rather strongly associated to HOMA-index (r =0.32), measured in elderly men, explaining 10% of the variance. The correlation remained significant after adjustment for age and percent total body fat.
- The 17G/DHT ratio was strongly associated with overweight and obesity in young adult and elderly men (OR=2.06-4.45 per SD increase), and with insulin resistance and diabetes in elderly men (OR=1.48-1.96 per SD increase) (logistic regression analysis).

In conclusion, 17G, and especially the 17G/DHT ratio, were found to be strongly correlated with fat mass, fat distribution and metabolic risk factors in men.

DISCUSSION

Androgens are important for many physiological processes. In addition to binding of these hormones to the AR, the synthesis and inactivation are also important in the action of androgens. Genetic variation has a large impact on the androgen disposition. We have shown that genetic polymorphisms considerably influence the serum and urinary androgen and androgen metabolite levels. These changes in serum levels could affect androgen-dependent tissues such as bone, prostate and fat.

Genes and polymorphisms involved in substrate-specific glucuronidation of androgens/androgen metabolites

Androgens are metabolized in two steps, phase I and phase II (Fig. 8). Phase I includes the reversible metabolism of DHT into 3α -diol and ADT, while phase II metabolism includes the irreversible conjugation of the phase I metabolites into more water-soluble compounds. Androgen metabolites are mostly conjugated to glucuronides, with 3α -diol being transformed into 3G and 17G, and ADT into ADTG (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8. The glucuronidated androgen metabolites in serum and urine. UGT2B7, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 glucuronidation based on in vivo analyses of polymorphisms in these genes, as reported in this thesis, is indicated. Boxed glucuronidated metabolites are measured by LC-MS/MS or GC-MS.

Alternatively, the bioactive androgens T and DHT can be inactivated directly by glucuronidation (Fig. 8). This phase II glucuronidation is catalyzed by the UGT2B7, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 enzymes. The glucuronidation process is substrate-specific and probably also tissue-specific since the different UGT enzymes show a tissue-specific expression (44, 52, 58). The relative enzymatic activity of the UGT enzymes in each tissue can give rise to changes in androgen levels within the tissue.

By *in vitro* studies (33, 52), it has been determined that the androgens T and DHT and the androgen metabolites 3α-diol and ADT are glucuronidated by the enzymes UGT2B7, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 into TG, DHTG, 17G, 3G and ADTG (Fig. 8). In this thesis, I have investigated the *in vivo* specificity and effects of the UGT enzymes in two large, well characterized human cohorts of young adult and elderly men. These two cohorts were also used to study the effect of polymorphisms in the *UGT2B7, UGT2B15* and *UGT2B17* genes. We have measured the glucuronidation products of androgens and androgen metabolites with the very specific LC-MS/MS and GC-MS techniques that can distinguish 3G from 17G in serum. The glucuronidated androgen metabolites 3G, 17G, and ADTG are measured directly in the serum, while the glucuronidated forms of T and DHT (TG and DHTG) in serum are measured indirectly in urine (Fig. 8). In urine, most (>99%) of the T and DHT molecules are glucuronidated (88).

Both the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y and the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism result in an amino acid change. The amino acid change in the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism takes place where the substrate binds to the enzyme. The change in the protein chain could result in altered enzyme activity. When studying associations between the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphisms and glucuronidated products, no association found could either mean that the polymorphism is not functional or unimportant for the reaction studied, or that the UGT enzyme itself is not important for the reaction. An association would suggest that the polymorphism is functional or in linkage with another functional polymorphism, and that the gene is important for the reaction studied. However, the UGT2B17 polymorphism is a deletion, and subjects homozygous for the deletion express no enzyme. Therefore, an association between the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism and а glucuronidated androgen/androgen metabolite demonstrates that the UGT2B17 enzyme is required for the reaction while no association demonstrates that the enzyme is not required for the reaction.

Glucuronidation of T: We show that UGT2B17 has a key role for glucuronidation of T. Urine levels of glucuronidated T (Fig. 8) were only associated with the UGT2B17

polymorphism, and not to the UGT2B7 or UGT2B15 polymorphism (Paper I-II), which confirms previous in vitro data (33, 52). This suggests that UGT2B17 is the only enzyme capable of the glucuronidation of T, and in subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion, no glucuronidation of T will take place. The importance of UGT2B17 has previously been demonstrated in subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism. These subjects lack the UGT2B17 enzyme and have a seriously impaired ability to glucuronidate T, as shown by negligible amounts of glucuronidated T in the urine (66) (Fig. 8). Administration of T to subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion also resulted in extremely low urine levels of glucuronidated T compared to subjects with one or two alleles of the UGT2B17 gene (151). The T/epiT ratio, a value introduced as a criterion for T abuse with increased ratio indicating the possible abuse of androgens, was shown to be largely affected by the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism in a small sub-sample of young adult men included in the GOOD study (151). Using the complete GOOD cohort of young adult men and the large MrOS cohort of elderly men, we showed that subjects homozygous for the deletion had extremely low T/epiT ratio (Fig. 9) (Paper I), suggesting that these subjects can abuse T with hardly any risk of detection.





addition to this, In the deletion polymorphism in the UGT2B17 gene is much more common in Asian (66.7%) than in Caucasian (9.3%) populations (66), and UGT2B17 expression the level differs remarkably between Asians and Caucasians (152). This has led to the suggestion that the T/epiT cut off ratio for doping should be individual-based instead of population-based (153). Increased understanding of androgen elimination by

glucuronidation, and its associated genetic variation, is important for improving the interpretation of doping test results and the development of new antidoping tests.

UGT2B17 has also been reported to be important for other clinical aspects of androgen action such as fracture risk. In a large Chinese study in elderly men, studying genome-wide copy number variation, osteoporotic fracture risk was found to be associated with copy number of the *UGT2B17* gene, with an increased risk seen for subjects with one or two alleles of UGT2B17 (18). UGT2B17 has also been studied in relation to prostate cancer, showing either an increased risk for subjects lacking one or two alleles of the UGT2B17 gene (67, 154) or no association (68), possibly suggesting a protective effect for subjects carrying the *UGT2B17* gene. The del/del genotype is more common among Asians (66), and since del/del subjects were shown to have increased risk for prostate cancer, prostate cancer should be more common among Asian men if the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism is involved. The prostate cancer incidence does differ between ethnic groups, but Asians have the lowest incidence (155). The genetic variation in UGT2B17 does therefore not seem to explain the ethnic incidence differences of prostate cancer.

Glucuronidation of DHT: Regarding glucuronidation of DHT, urine levels of DHT (mostly glucuronidated; Fig. 8) were only associated with the UGT2B17 polymorphism, which confirms previous in vitro data (33). No association was seen with the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism, although UGT2B15 previously was described in vitro to have low capacity to glucuronidate DHT (52). The reason for the difference between low activity found in vitro, and no activity found in our in vivo study, could either be that the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism does not affect the activity of the enzyme, or that UGT2B15 enzyme is not important for glucuronidation of DHT in vivo. A previous in vivo study, using part of the GOOD study, reported that individuals homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion had significantly lower levels of DHT in urine (66), and we can now confirm this also in elderly men (Paper I). The presence of the UGT2B17 deletion reduces the ability to glucuronidate DHT (-43%), which explains the lower levels of DHT found in the del/del individuals. In contrast to the glucuronidation of T, where a 93% reduction of urine levels was seen for subjects lacking the UGT2B17 gene, the reduced glucuronidation of DHT for subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion was less pronounced, indicating that for the glucuronidation of DHT other enzymes besides the UGT2B17 enzyme are involved.

17-glucuronidation of 3a-diol: In our *in vivo* study, we saw that the glucuronidation of 3a-diol into 17G was clearly affected by both the UGT2B15 D^{85} Y and the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms in both young adult and elderly men (Paper I). As expected, subjects homozygous for the UGT2B17 deletion had lower levels of 17G. The UGT2B15 YY subjects showed lower 17G levels in serum, which made us conclude that subjects homozygous for the Y variant have a less efficient enzyme.

The UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 data is in accordance with previous *in vitro* data regarding enzyme specificity (33, 52). However, the Y85 variant of UGT2B15 has *in vitro* been seen to have a higher Vmax (58), which was interpreted as a more efficient enzyme, but our *in vivo* data suggests that the Y variant corresponds to the least efficient enzyme.

In young adult men (Paper II), the glucuronidation of 3α -diol into 17G was also associated with the UGT2B7 polymorphism with elevated levels of 17G seen for subjects homozygous for the Y allele. But, in our enzymatic assay, we did not find any conjugation of 3α-diol into 17G. In addition to elevated 17G levels in the UGT2B7 YY subjects, we observed elevated serum levels of T and DHT. Since glucuronidation of 3a-diol into 17G by UGT2B7 has not been reported in previous in vitro studies, it is plausible that the unexpected 17G data for UGT2B7 might be a reflection of the higher levels of serum T and DHT detected in YY subjects. Finally, when comparing the effect of the different UGT polymorphisms on 17G formation (Papers I-II), the UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 showed larger differences between the high efficiency allele and the low efficiency allele than UGT2B7 (UGT2B15: 50% DD over YY in young adult men, UGT2B17: 27% Del/WT + WT/WT over del/del in young adult men and UGT2B7: 11% YY over HH in young adult men). In addition, when the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y, UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms were included as covariates in the same linear regression model, it was the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms, and not the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism, which were independent predictors of 17G. We therefore suggest that UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms affect the 17β-glucuronidation of 3 α -diol into 17G to a larger extent than the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism (Fig. 8).

3-glucuronidation of 3α-diol: The 3α-glucuronidation of 3α-diol into 3G (Fig. 8) was only associated with the UGT2B7 polymorphism in young adult men, and not to the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y or the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms (Paper I-II). In our study, subjects with the UGT2B7 YY genotype had elevated 3G levels, whereas it was previously reported that the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism did not show any intergenotypic activity differences for its substrates *in vitro* (57). This finding emphasizes the importance of *in vivo* studies. These data supports previous *in vitro* findings that 3G is a good substrate for UGT2B7 (52). As mentioned above for 17G, UGT2B7 YY subjects had elevated serum levels of T and DHT. We cannot rule out that the elevated 3G levels seen are also a consequence of these elevated serum levels of T and DHT, as hypothesized for 17G. Still, we show for the first time that the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism is associated with serum levels of 3G *in vivo*.

Glucuronidaton of ADT: The glucuronidation of ADT into ADTG has been shown *in vitro* to be performed by UGT2B17 (33) and UGT2B7 (52). We do not see this in our human cohorts (Fig. 8) (Papers I-II), which are the first studies to investigate the ADT glucuronidation pattern in humans in relation to the UGT2B7 polymorphism. Actually, none of the polymorphisms in the UGT2B enzymes investigated affected serum levels of ADTG *in vivo* (Papers I-II), suggesting that the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphisms, do not change the activity or expression of the enzymes considerably, or that the UGT2B15 and UGT2B7 enzymes are not required for ADT glucuronidation *in vivo*. Since the UGT2B17 polymorphism is a deletion, we can establish that the UGT2B17 is not required for a normal ADT glucuronidation. In our *in vitro* enzymatic assay, however, we found conjugation of ADT into ADTG by UGT2B7 (Paper II), with higher levels seen for the Y variant. Again, this clearly emphasizes the importance of *in vivo* studies.

In conclusion, the results in Papers I and II clearly show that the UGT2B7 H^{268} Y, UGT2B15 D^{85} Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are functional or in linkage with other functional polymorphism, and we also show the specificity of the enzymes *in vivo* (Fig. 8). The above results show that the glucuronidation of 3 α -diol into 17G is mainly performed by UGT2B15 and UGT2B17, while glucuronidation of T is specifically and only performed by UGT2B17. Glucuronidation of DHT is partly performed by UGT2B17. Our data indicate the glucuronidation of 3 α -diol into 3G is performed by UGT2B17 (Fig. 8). Moreover, our findings indicate that polymorphisms in UGT2B7, UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 may influence the local levels of T and DHT at the tissue levels (Papers I-II) which may in turn affect tissue-specific androgen activity.

In the following studies, we investigated the possible functional consequences in bone and fat of differences in androgen metabolism and if the different UGT2B polymorphisms associated with bone and fat mass.

Androgen metabolites and bone mass

In paper III, the glucuronidated androgen metabolites 3G and 17G were found to be stronger predictors of BMD than the bioactive androgens in elderly men. We suggest that measuring the glucuronidated androgen metabolites in serum might be a better indicator of local androgen activity than measuring serum levels of androgens. The poor predictability of serum T is for example seen in castrated men, where castration reduces the concentration of DHT in serum with 90-95%, while serum levels of the glucuronidated metabolites ADTG and 3α -diol-G are only reduced by 50-70% (82,

156, 157). Mellström et al. have previously shown that FT, measured by RIA, was a significant, but not very strong, predictor of BMD in the same MrOS cohort (109). Weak associations with BMD (77, 79, 109, 158, 159) and BMD loss (107) in men have also been found in other studies. Two recent studies, using the MS technique, have shown that serum T levels are inversely associated with fracture risk (115, 160). However, the glucuronidated androgen metabolites were not measured in these two latter studies. In our study in elderly men in Paper III, we measured the glucuronidated androgen metabolites with tandem mass spectrometry and showed that actually the glucuronidated androgen metabolites, and not FT or T, were predictors of BMD, with the sum of 3G and 17G explaining 2.8% of the variance in BMD. Notably, the 2.8% of variance in bone mass explained by the glucuronidated androgen metabolites is not much. Nevertheless, 3G+17G were still better markers of BMD than the bioactive androgens. This suggests that the glucuronidated androgen metabolites are more valid estimates of androgenic activity in bone than the androgens. Low BMD is considered the best established risk factor for osteoporotic fractures (160, 161). Future studies should investigate whether 3G+17G is a new better predictor also for fractures compared to the androgens. Studies to determine the predictive value of glucuronidated androgen metabolites for fracture risk are ongoing in our research group.

To determine if the predictive role of glucuronidated androgen metabolites for androgen action is specific for bone, we investigated the associations in another androgen-sensitive tissue. Interestingly, serum levels of 17G were associated with prostate volume whereas the bioactive androgens showed no significant associations. The lack of association between serum T and prostate volume is supported by others (162, 163). Future studies should investigate if 17G can be used as a predictor of prostate cancer. Such studies are ongoing in our research group.

In conclusion, Paper III shows that serum levels of specific glucuronidated androgen metabolites are stronger predictors of BMD than the bioactive androgens in elderly men. BMD was predicted by both 3G and 17G levels, which indicates that the androgens made locally by intracellular mechanisms are of importance for the regulation of BMD, supporting the idea of intracrinology.

Polymorphisms in glucuronidation enzymes and bone mass

Polymorphisms in genes encoding the enzymes involved in the synthesis and degradation of androgens can affect the expression levels of sex steroids such as T, DHT and E2 locally in peripheral tissues, e.g. bone tissue, and thereby affect bone

mass. We and others have studied polymorphisms that affect the synthesis of sex steroids. For example, we have shown that a repeat polymorphisms in aromatase, the key enzyme for conversion of T to E2, affected areal BMD and cortical bone size (164). This polymorphism was also reported to be associated with peak bone mass (165), and with BMD (166) and BMD loss in elderly men (113). Other studies have examined polymorphisms that influence the degradation of sex steroids. For example, we observed that a polymorphism in catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), a key enzyme in the degradation of estrogens, was correlated to BMD in young adult men (167) and to life time fracture risk in elderly men (168). This association has also been seen in women (169). A polymorphism in the SULT1A1 enzyme, involved in the catabolism of estrogens, was also associated to increased BMD (170).

This thesis examined the polymorphisms in the enzymes responsible for the degradation of androgens by glucuronidation and their relation to bone mass. Our study in Paper II, which showed that the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism is associated to cortical bone size in young adult men, is the first study that has associated a bone phenotype to genetic alterations in a glucuronidation enzyme. The UGT2B7 polymorphism was an independent predictor of cortical bone size in both the weightbearing tibia and nonweight-bearing radius as a result of an impact on periosteal circumference. In addition, the polymorphism was associated to serum T levels (Paper II). Androgens increase cortical bone size in men (148, 171). During puberty, boys acquire bigger bone size probably resulting from the high androgen levels, and this confers reduced fracture risk compared to women (172). Since the YY subjects had both higher T levels and a larger periosteal circumference, we investigated if the impact of the UGT2B7 polymorphism on cortical bone size was indirectly mediated through the affected levels of T. However, inclusion of young adult serum T levels in the regression model had no substantial impact on the association seen, indicating a possible effect of the UGT2B7 polymorphism on T levels during earlier pubertal growth could be of greater importance. Alternatively, possibly high local levels of T in bone, that cannot be measured, could account for this effect. It remains unknown if UGT2B7 is expressed in bone, and this would be interesting to study. In contrast to the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism, the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism did not significantly associate with bone mass (data not shown).

Androgens and fat mass

It has been widely recognized that serum levels of T are negatively associated to fat mass (137, 138, 173-178). The inverse relationship between T and fat mass could

either depend on that fat mass decreases the gonadotropins LH and FSH, produced by the pituitary, which in turn would lead to low T levels, or that low levels of T could give rise to increased fat mass. A modest decrease of serum T is normal in elderly men, but men with lower than normal T levels, due to failure of the testes to produce adequate T levels, are considered hypogonadal (179). Men are considered to have lower than normal T levels when the mid-morning serum samples of total levels of T are between 8 to 11 nmol/l or under (25, 179-182). There is a diurnal variation in serum T levels in men (183), but it declines with age. Some suggest measuring LH FSH since secondary hypogonadism (so called and hypogonadotropic hypogonadism) is a common cause of androgen deficiency in older men (179). Hypogonadal men show a variety of sometimes vague symptoms including a decreased sense of well-being, decreased BMD, muscle mass, strength, energy, libido and sexual activity, and increased sweating, mood swings and fat mass (25, 179, 184). Since T therapy can reestablish the physiological concentration of serum T and relieve symptoms such therapy should be considered in men with definite symptoms in conjunction with low serum T levels (25, 179, 180). However, the longterm effects have not been studied and therefore treatment with T remains controversial (25, 179, 184). Alternatively, DHEA replacement could be considered, but the studies so far (185-190) did not show any convincing evidence for beneficial effects thus far.

In overweight and obese men, total T and FT levels are significantly lower compared to nonobese men (191). The effect of increasing BMI on circulating T is more pronounced compared to that of age (191), indicating that obesity impairs the hypothalamic/pituitary function independent of age. Some authors hypothesize that low T levels may be the cause, rather than the consequence, of obesity (135, 192). Also, men with acquired hypogonadism get increased fat mass (193), whereas T therapy has been reported to reduce fat mass in hypogonadal men (194).

Although the more potent bioactive androgen DHT has also been described as a negative predictor of fat mass (195), the independent impact of DHT on fat mass has not been studied. In Paper IV, serum levels of T and DHT were correlated and statistical analyses indicated that it is actually DHT, and not T, that was a negative independent predictor of fat mass in men (Paper IV). In relation to this, perhaps also serum DHT levels should be measured and considered when investigating the relationship between androgens and fat mass in men. With increased longevity and the increased amount of obese men, the number of older men with T deficiency will increase substantially over the next decades (25, 196). We also propose, given the relationship between DHT and fat mass and the impact of obesity on the diagnosis of

hypogonadism, that a threshold for serum DHT might be considered when diagnosing hypogonadism.

Androgen metabolites and fat mass

Degradation of androgens can take place in adipose tissue, since all the enzymes required for androgen metabolism are found in adipose tissue (197-199). Within the peripheral fat tissue, androgens can be either aromatized into E2 or metabolized into androgen metabolites which in turn can be glucuronidated to form glucuronidated androgen metabolites (Fig. 1). This is supported by the finding that UGT2B15 is expressed in adipose tissue (58, 200). However, UGT2B17 is not expressed (33).

Increased metabolism of DHT has been detected in visceral adipose tissue in comparison to subcutaneous fat (201) and increased levels of 3a-diol have been detected in obese patients (138). It has previously been seen in a small study by Tchernof et al. (138), that 3α -diol-glucuronides were positively correlated to visceral adipose tissue accumulation in young men supporting the idea that local androgen conversion may be related to adipose tissue. However, our study is the first study where the 3a-diol metabolites 3G and 17G have been measured and distinguished from each other. The glucuronidated androgen metabolites 3G and 17G were both found to be associated with total body fat, trunk fat and central fat distribution in both young adult and elderly men (Paper IV). When both 3G and 17G were included in the same regression model, we discovered that it was 17G that was independently positively associated to both total and regional fat deposits. This finding suggests that 3α -diol is specifically glucuronidated into 17G in adipose tissue, which means that there is a tissue-specific glucuronidation pattern of 3a-diol. From our cross sectional association study in Paper IV, we cannot determine whether the glucuronidation of 3α -diol is directly involved in the regulation of the amount of fat or whether the increased amount of fat results in an increased total capacity for 17-glucuronidation of 3α-diol, which in turn would result in increased levels of 17G and decreased levels of DHT in serum.

Metabolic risk factors include not only fat mass (especially abdominal fat mass) but also insulin resistance, intra-hepatic fat, hypertension, diabetes and unfavorable lipid profile (202). In our study, DHT was independently negatively, while 17G was positively, associated with insulin resistance, as measured by HOMA index (Paper IV). 17G was strongly associated with a disturbed lipid profile as shown by the negative association with HDL cholesterol and ApoA1, and the positive association with serum triglycerides. Liver attenuation, which is inversely associated to the amount of intra-hepatic fat, was positively associated to DHT, while negatively associated with 17G.

It is important to note that the relationship between metabolic risk factors and DHT and 17G, respectively, is inverse, with DHT being negatively, and 17G being positively, associated with body weight, BMI, insulin resistance, serum leptin levels and triglycerides. Therefore, it is interesting to study the 17G/DHT ratio in this respect.

The 17G/DHT ratio and fat mass

The concept of the 17G/DHT ratio can be somewhat difficult to understand. First we saw that DHT was negatively, and 17G was positively, associated to fat mass (Paper IV). The connection between DHT and 17G is straightforward, since 17G is the metabolite of DHT, via 3α -diol. The ratio is a new approach that could be regarded as a measurement of the total activity of enzymes involved in the conversion of DHT into 17G.

The 17G/DHT ratio was strongly associated to total body fat and central fat distribution, calculated as trunk fat/total body fat, in both young adult and elderly men, explaining a substantial part of the variance of e.g. central fat distribution (Paper IV). In the young adult men we measured the different abdominal fat depots by CT. We show that the 17G/DHT ratio was associated to abdominal fat distribution, with stronger association seen for visceral than for subcutaneous fat depots. Based on these associations, we suggest that the visceral fat depots might be the main site for the conversion of DHT into 17G, again a sign of tissue-specificity for the conjugation in central and peripheral fat depots, and that it specifically is the central visceral fat that is responsible for the conjugation of DHT into 17G. This idea is supported by the finding that several metabolic risk parameters associated to the 17G/DHT ratio. Importantly, several of these associations remained significant after adjustment for BMI (Paper IV). Taken together, we propose that the 17G/DHT ratio could be regarded as a novel metabolic risk factor in men.

If the amount of fat would determine the metabolism of DHT, increased fat mass would lead to increased conjugation of DHT and subsequently increased 17G levels in serum. If true, adipose tissue would be primarily responsible for the 17 β -glucuronidation of 3 α -diol. On the other hand, it cannot be excluded that the degree of local DHT inactivation (reflected by the 17G/DHT ratio) affects local DHT levels in

fat and/or other tissues (i.e. hypothalamus) of importance for the regulation of fat mass and that the local tissue DHT in turn regulates fat mass.

Polymorphisms and fat mass

Several measures of fat mass, including total body fat, trunk and arm fat, were associated with the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism in young adult and elderly men (Paper I). In addition, the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms was associated with fat parameters, including total body fat, trunk fat, arm fat and central fat distribution in elderly men (Paper I). Since the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism did not associate with fat mass in young adult men, we suggested that the effect of the polymorphisms on fat mass might be age-dependent. In elderly men, the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphism, but not the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y polymorphism, was a negative predictor of metabolic risk factors, such as serum levels of insulin and HOMA index. Since UGT2B15 is expressed in adipose tissue (58, 200) we hypothesize that a significant amount of the UGT2B15 action occurs in adipose tissue. Obviously, the polymorphism by itself might affect local androgens and their metabolites and secondarily fat mass. Since no studies have reported UGT2B17 expression in adipose tissue, it probably acts through another pathway.

We show in Paper I that the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are associated with glucuronidated androgen metabolites, fat mass and metabolic risk factors. Possible mechanisms include that affected androgens and/or their metabolites have an effect locally on the adipose tissue where they are produced, which is supported by the concept of intracrinology. An effect on the feedback and serum levels of T, DHT or E2 is less plausible, since the serum levels of these sex steroids were not affected. Although less probable one cannot exclude the possibility that the androgen metabolites by themselves might regulate fat mass. Further studies are clearly required to increase the understanding of the mechanism behind the association seen between the UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 polymorphisms and fat mass. In contrast, the UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y did not significantly associate with fat mass.

In conclusion, we determined that the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms were not only associated with glucuronidation of androgens and their metabolites, but also fat mass (Paper I). Therefore, we find it likely that UGT2B15, which is expressed in adipose tissue, acts locally, while the mechanism behind the association with UGT2B17 is less clear.

SUMMARY

- The UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y, UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are functional or in linkage with a functional polymorphism. UGT2B15 and UGT2B17 are involved in the glucuronidation of 3α-diol into 17G, while only UGT2B17 has the capacity to glucuronidate T. The glucuronidation of DHT is partly performed by UGT2B17. UGT2B7 is involved in the glucuronidation of 3α-diol into 3G (Fig. 8).
- Androgen metabolites, namely 3G and 17G, are more strongly associated to BMD than the bioactive androgens in elderly men.
- The UGT2B7 H²⁶⁸Y polymorphism, but not the UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y or the UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms, is associated with cortical bone size in young adult men.
- The androgen metabolite 17G, and especially the 17G/DHT ratio, are directly related to fat mass and metabolic risk factors. The 17G/DHT ratio explained a substantial part of the variance of total body fat for young adult and elderly men (12% and 15%, respectively).
- The UGT2B15 D⁸⁵Y and UGT2B17 deletion polymorphisms are associated to fat mass and metabolic risk factors.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Advances in a new area of endocrinology, called intracrinology, have followed the cloning and characterization of enzymes involved in sex steroid metabolism. The concept of intracrinology has emphasized the added value of measuring the phase II metabolites of androgens in serum, instead of only the bioactive androgens, since androgens made locally do not significantly diffuse into the circulation. With mass spectrometry it is possible to measure all the different metabolites of DHT in serum and urine. Since we have shown that the metabolites are stronger predictors of BMD and prostate volume in men than the bioactive androgens, we suggest that when assessing androgenic activity in man, the androgen metabolites and not only the bioactive androgens might be valuable to measure. In addition, the glucuronidated androgen metabolites might be used in the clinic as novel markers for changes in bone, fat and prostate tissue. The associations in this thesis will not change doctors' practice immediately, but can be expected over time to lead to improved understanding of mechanisms involved in for example male osteoporosis and/or obesity. Also, modulating the glucuronidation process by drugs might be a new future target for treating osteoporosis and metabolic risk factors. Due to the different substrate-and tissue-specificity of the enzymes, different effects might be obtained through modulating the different glucuronidation enzymes.

The effects of the genetic variations in glucuronidation enzymes may also be of importance from another clinical point of view. For example, the response to androgen therapy might depend on the subject's genetic background. In Caucasian men, the rate of prostate cancer is 2-40 times higher than in Asian men (155). It is interesting to note that the allele frequencies of some of the polymorphisms investigated in this thesis differ significantly between these two groups. The large genetic variation in androgen metabolizing enzymes within, and between, ethnic groups is not profoundly studied and future research will show the importance of this variation in health and disease. The polymorphisms might also be of importance for the pharmacokinetics of drugs since it has been seen that different variants of the polymorphisms can change the way drugs are metabolized (203-206). In this respect, genetic variations in enzymes involved in androgen metabolism are of great importance for the interpretation of doping test results. In the future, determining an athletes' UGT2B17 genotype might be performed to improve doping test sensitivity, making doping tests individual-based instead of population-based.

Future perspectives

In the future, studies related to the research in this thesis could be useful when developing new antidoping programs. This is especially true when it comes to research regarding UGT2B17 and the deletion polymorphism. It will be interesting to see how the glucuronidated androgen metabolites will be used in the clinic. Our results in this thesis indicate that the metabolites found in serum reflect the androgenic activity within the peripheral tissues better than serum levels of the bioactive androgens themselves. One might speculate that glucuronidated androgen metabolites might be useful as clinical markers of patients with risk for developing osteoporosis and prostate abnormalities. In addition to this, the glucuronidated androgen the metabolites could possibly be used to indicate a patient's risk to develop the metabolic syndrome.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to all my friends and colleagues who have in one way or another contributed to this thesis. A special thanks to:

Claes Ohlsson, min handledare, för entusiastiskt handledarskap, för att du alltid har tid trots fullt schema och för allt du lärt mig om vetenskap.

Liesbeth Vandenput, my co-supervisor, for nice collaboration around the manuscripts in this thesis, for fast and valuable comments on my written work and for always being positive.

Olle Isaksson, för tillhandahållandet av bra forskningslokaler och en trevlig miljö.

Ulf Lerner, för att du introducerade mig till benfältet och såg till att jag togs väl om hand i Göteborg.

All **co-authors**, especially **Fernand Labrie** and **Alain Bélanger** for nice collaboration around the serum measurements. **Jenny Jakobsson Schulze** och **Anders Rane** för gott samarbete kring urinmätningarna. **Dan Mellström**, för gott samarbete kring MrOS studien.

Alla härliga kollegor i *bengruppen*: Med er i närheten blir jobbet – och lunch och fikapauser - ännu roligare! **Klara**, för din underbara vänskap och för att du gör det roligt att till och med gå till djurhuset en måndagmorgon, **Niklas**, för hjälp i djurhuset och allt annat på lab och i livet, **Liesbeth** för delat intresse för små glukuroniderade metaboliter och din vänskap, **Sara**, för gott samarbete kring EST djuren och bra råd om disputationen och post-doc, **Sofia**, för din "no-problem" attityd och för glatt rumsällskap, **Marie**, för spridning av positiv arbetsglädje och trevligt rumsällskap vid kongresser, **Jenny**, för trevligt rumsällskap och goda råd i allmänhet, **Anna E**, för administrativa tips inför avhandlingsskrivandet, **Mattias**, för trevligt samarbete kring GOOD studien och för att du en gång i tiden hjälpte mig att få en plats i Göteborg, **Johan**, för bra feedback på halvtiden, **Martin** och **Anna B** för trevliga luncher och glada fikapauser.

Anette Hansevi, Lotta Uggla, Maud Petersson, tack för ovärderlig hjälp med bla pQCT och hormonmätningar samt TaqMankörningar. Anna-Lena Jirestedt, för all

administrativ hjälp som alltid utförs med ett leende. **Mattias Arkeklint**, för snabb hjälp med krånglande datorer.

Alla i *hjärt-gruppen* och *fetma-gruppen*, speciellt **Louise Strandberg** för hjälp med rprogrammet och för roligt sällskap på doktorandkurser.

Genomics core facility, speciellt **Åsa Naluai** och **Catrin Nordström.** Ett varmt tack till uberstatistikern **Staffan Nilsson**. Djurhus-personalen, speciellt **Marcus Södergren**.

Göteborgsvännerna: Klara Sjögren och Niclas Sundkvist, nu får vi allt se till att vara på samma plats lite mer, saknar våra myshelger! Klara, du är en underbar vän! **Emil Egecioglu** och Jenny Norlin, Niklas Andersson och Åsa Wallerskog, ni är sådana härliga vänner som man alltid kan lita på! Med er har man alltid kul! Nu blir det våfflor varje helg hemma hos oss! Ett extra tack till de excellenta barnvakterna Niklas och Åsa. Fransisco Cortina och Martin Elofsson, for being great concert buddies and for bringing me to movies and schlager-parties! Mikael Alsterholm, för din vänskap och alla roliga träningspass ihop (utom när du sparkar mig i huvudet!), Ola och Jessica Attman, ni får oss att vilja flytta till Fiskebäck!

Stockholmsvännerna: **Mats Gullberg** med familj, tack för att du hängt med ända sedan vi var små, för härlig humor, soffsängplats i liten etta (länge!) samt för att du håller ordning på mig. **Ida Niklasson** och **Victoria Jonsson**, jag gillar våra höst och vår träffar och hoppas vi kan hålla den traditionen trots barn och avstånd! Saknar att inte träffa er så ofta.

Utspridda-över-Sverige-vännerna: Karin Lundström och Elin Westin, från Lonly-Hearts-Club i Umeå till lyckliga gatan! Jag är så glad att vi håller kontakten och ser fram emot bröllop! Maria Eliasson och Fredrik Gussing, nu är det snart 15-års jubileum sedan London! Det är så roligt att vi håller kontakten trots alla flytter från norr till söder, öst till väst och tillbaka. Sofia och Ola Badersten, alltid lika mysigt att ses, hos och med er känner jag mig alltid hemma, Lena Ignell, ser fram emot att träffa dig och elitserielaget snart, Maria och Claes Danling, vi ses väl på det vanliga caféet?! Emma Persson, jag är verkligen glad att jag hade dig på lab och i livet i Umeå.

All my *wonderful friends in Los Angeles*, including Laura Iler, Michele and Matt VanBuren, Ryan and Stephanie Blank, Ellen Elphand and Dwain Wilson, Theresa Dorn and Minh Pham, Pete Clarke and Cookie, Emma and Aaron Skalka, all the wonderful girls in the Los Feliz MOMS Club; Hannah Passman,

Jessica Rath, Katie Galang, Valerie Kinsella, Sarah Bowles, Carmen Wolf and Sunny Cannon, I miss you all a lot! Thanks for staying in touch and keeping me in your minds, reminding me of life outside the lab and Sweden! The great staff at The Mustard Seed Café, you are the best! We miss you – and the food!

Alla släktingar, jag kan inte ta med er alla, men ni vet vilka ni är.

Tom, Dolly, Chuck, Sue, **Ben**, **Libby** and **Lacy**, my parents/sister/brother in law and nieces; thank you for welcoming me into the Danielsen/Allen family from the very first moment we met. I feel very lucky to have you and know you would be here if you could! I can't wait to see you all again soon.

Farfar för att du alltid var intresserad av "hur det gick med mina studier". Jag önskar du hade fått uppleva min disputationsdag.

Camilla, Syster Yster, för att du alltid finns där för mig och delar livets glädje och sorg. Trots att du bor långt bort, känns du alltid nära. **Luc**, merci pour etre un trés bon beau-frère! **Lovisa**, jag är så glad att ha dig som systerdotter och världens bästa kusin till Freja.

Mamma Marianne och **Pappa Per-Olof**, ni är väldens bästa föräldrar! Tack för all support vad gäller studier, doktorandtid, bröllop, dop, Frankrikeboende och allt annat som tänkas kan – och mer därtill! Parker och jag ser alltid fram emot att ses och få skratta tillsammans.

Parker, you bring such happiness to my life. It is wonderful to be married to you! Thank you for taking extra good care of me during this, sometimes stressful, thesis work period. I love you so much and can't wait for the rest of our life together, puss! $\bullet \bullet \bullet$

Freja, min lilla gullunge! Du får mig alltid att skratta och jag är så glad att ha fått dig, lilla trollet. Du har tillfört en ny underbar dimension i livet och det blir bara roligare och roligare! Jag ser fram emot att få följa dig genom livet. Och nu ska mamma inte jobba så mycket på kvällar och helger mer! ♥♥♥

REFERENCES

- 1. **Alberts B, Bray D, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Watson JD** 2002 Molecular Biology of the Cell: Taylor and Francis
- 2. Lewin B 2008 Genes IX: Jones and Bartlett Publishers
- 3. **Cooper GM, Zerr T, Kidd JM, Eichler EE, Nickerson DA** 2008 Systematic assessment of copy number variant detection via genome-wide SNP genotyping. Nat Genet 40:1199-1203
- 4. **Chamary JV, Parmley JL, Hurst LD** 2006 Hearing silence: non-neutral evolution at synonymous sites in mammals. Nat Rev Genet 7:98-108
- 5. 2003 The International HapMap Project. Nature 426:789-796
- Sachidanandam R, Weissman D, Schmidt SC, Kakol JM, Stein LD, Marth G, Sherry S, Mullikin JC, Mortimore BJ, Willey DL, Hunt SE, Cole CG, Coggill PC, Rice CM, Ning Z, Rogers J, Bentley DR, Kwok PY, Mardis ER, Yeh RT, Schultz B, Cook L, Davenport R, Dante M, Fulton L, Hillier L, Waterston RH, McPherson JD, Gilman B, Schaffner S, Van Etten WJ, Reich D, Higgins J, Daly MJ, Blumenstiel B, Baldwin J, Stange-Thomann N, Zody MC, Linton L, Lander ES, Altshuler D 2001 A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nature 409:928-933
- 7. Altshuler D, Daly MJ, Lander ES 2008 Genetic mapping in human disease. Science 322:881-888
- 8. **Slatkin M** 2008 Linkage disequilibrium--understanding the evolutionary past and mapping the medical future. Nat Rev Genet 9:477-485
- 9. International homepage for the HapMap project. In:
- 10. Frazer KA, Ballinger DG, Cox DR, Hinds DA, Stuve LL, Gibbs RA, Belmont JW, Boudreau A, Hardenbol P, Leal SM, Pasternak S, Wheeler DA, Willis TD, Yu F, Yang H, Zeng C, Gao Y, Hu H, Hu W, Li C, Lin W, Liu S, Pan H, Tang X, Wang J, Wang W, Yu J, Zhang B, Zhang Q, Zhao H, Zhou J, Gabriel SB, Barry R, Blumenstiel B, Camargo A, Defelice M, Faggart M, Goyette M, Gupta S, Moore J, Nguyen H, Onofrio RC, Parkin M, Roy J, Stahl E, Winchester E, Ziaugra L, Altshuler D, Shen Y, Yao Z, Huang W, Chu X, He Y, Jin L, Liu Y, Sun W, Wang H, Wang Y, Xiong X, Xu L, Waye MM, Tsui SK, Xue H, Wong JT, Galver LM, Fan JB, Gunderson K, Murray SS, Oliphant AR, Chee MS, Montpetit A, Chagnon F, Ferretti V, Leboeuf M, Olivier JF, Phillips MS, Roumy S, Sallee C, Verner A, Hudson TJ, Kwok PY, Cai D, Koboldt DC, Miller RD, Pawlikowska L, Taillon-Miller P, Xiao M, Tsui LC, Mak W, Song YQ, Tam PK, Nakamura Y, Kawaguchi T, Kitamoto T, Morizono T, Nagashima A, Ohnishi Y, Sekine A, Tanaka T, Tsunoda T, Deloukas P, Bird CP, Delgado M, Dermitzakis ET, Gwilliam R, Hunt S, Morrison J, Powell D, Stranger BE, Whittaker P, Bentley DR, Daly MJ, de Bakker PI, Barrett J, Chretien YR, Maller J, McCarroll S, Patterson N, Pe'er I, Price A, Purcell S, Richter DJ, Sabeti P, Saxena R, Schaffner SF, Sham PC, Varilly P, Stein LD, Krishnan L, Smith AV, Tello-Ruiz MK, Thorisson GA, Chakravarti A, Chen PE, Cutler DJ, Kashuk CS, Lin S, Abecasis GR, Guan W, Li Y, Munro HM, Qin ZS, Thomas DJ, McVean G, Auton A, Bottolo L, Cardin N, Eyheramendy S, Freeman C, Marchini J, Myers S, Spencer C, Stephens M, Donnelly P, Cardon LR, Clarke G, Evans DM, Morris AP, Weir BS, Mullikin JC, Sherry ST, Feolo M, Skol A,

Zhang H, Matsuda I, Fukushima Y, Macer DR, Suda E, Rotimi CN, Adebamowo CA, Ajayi I, Aniagwu T, Marshall PA, Nkwodimmah C, Royal CD, Leppert MF, Dixon M, Peiffer A, Qiu R, Kent A, Kato K, Niikawa N, Adewole IF, Knoppers BM, Foster MW, Clayton EW, Watkin J, Muzny D, Nazareth L, Sodergren E, Weinstock GM, Yakub I, Birren BW, Wilson RK, Fulton LL, Rogers J, Burton J, Carter NP, Clee CM, Griffiths M, Jones MC, McLay K, Plumb RW, Ross MT, Sims SK, Willey DL, Chen Z, Han H, Kang L, Godbout M, Wallenburg JC, L'Archeveque P, Bellemare G, Saeki K, An D, Fu H, Li Q, Wang Z, Wang R, Holden AL, Brooks LD, McEwen JE, Guyer MS, Wang VO, Peterson JL, Shi M, Spiegel J, Sung LM, Zacharia LF, Collins FS, Kennedy K, Jamieson R, Stewart J 2007 A second generation human haplotype map of over 3.1 million SNPs. Nature 449:851-861

- 11. **NCBI** The SNP database. In:
- 12. **Perusse L, Chagnon YC** 1997 Summary of human linkage and association studies. Behav Genet 27:359-372
- 13. **Ralston SH, de Crombrugghe B** 2006 Genetic regulation of bone mass and susceptibility to osteoporosis. Genes Dev 20:2492-2506
- Styrkarsdottir U, Halldorsson BV, Gretarsdottir S, Gudbjartsson DF, Walters GB, Ingvarsson T, Jonsdottir T, Saemundsdottir J, Center JR, Nguyen TV, Bagger Y, Gulcher JR, Eisman JA, Christiansen C, Sigurdsson G, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K 2008 Multiple genetic loci for bone mineral density and fractures. N Engl J Med 358:2355-2365
- 15. **Kruglyak L** 2008 The road to genome-wide association studies. Nat Rev Genet 9:314-318
- 16. **Kingsmore SF, Lindquist IE, Mudge J, Gessler DD, Beavis WD** 2008 Genome-wide association studies: progress and potential for drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:221-230
- 17. **Gu CC, Yu K, Rao DC** 2008 Characterization of LD structures and the utility of HapMap in genetic association studies. Adv Genet 60:407-435
- 18. Yang TL, Chen XD, Guo Y, Lei SF, Wang JT, Zhou Q, Pan F, Chen Y, Zhang ZX, Dong SS, Xu XH, Yan H, Liu X, Qiu C, Zhu XZ, Chen T, Li M, Zhang H, Zhang L, Drees BM, Hamilton JJ, Papasian CJ, Recker RR, Song XP, Cheng J, Deng HW 2008 Genome-wide copy-number-variation study identified a susceptibility gene, UGT2B17, for osteoporosis. Am J Hum Genet 83:663-674
- Thorleifsson G, Walters GB, Gudbjartsson DF, Steinthorsdottir V, Sulem P, Helgadottir A, Styrkarsdottir U, Gretarsdottir S, Thorlacius S, Jonsdottir I, Jonsdottir T, Olafsdottir EJ, Olafsdottir GH, Jonsson T, Jonsson F, Borch-Johnsen K, Hansen T, Andersen G, Jorgensen T, Lauritzen T, Aben KK, Verbeek AL, Roeleveld N, Kampman E, Yanek LR, Becker LC, Tryggvadottir L, Rafnar T, Becker DM, Gulcher J, Kiemeney LA, Pedersen O, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K 2009 Genomewide association yields new sequence variants at seven loci that associate with measures of obesity. Nat Genet 41:18-24
- 20. Ji W, Foo JN, O'Roak BJ, Zhao H, Larson MG, Simon DB, Newton-Cheh C, State MW, Levy D, Lifton RP 2008 Rare independent mutations in renal salt handling genes contribute to blood pressure variation. Nat Genet 40:592-599

- 21. **Zmuda JM, Kammerer CM** 2008 Snipping away at osteoporosis susceptibility. Lancet 371:1479-1480
- 22. Liu YJ, Shen H, Xiao P, Xiong DH, Li LH, Recker RR, Deng HW 2006 Molecular genetic studies of gene identification for osteoporosis: a 2004 update. J Bone Miner Res 21:1511-1535
- 23. Rankinen T, Zuberi A, Chagnon YC, Weisnagel SJ, Argyropoulos G, Walts B, Perusse L, Bouchard C 2006 The human obesity gene map: the 2005 update. Obesity (Silver Spring) 14:529-644
- 24. Vanderschueren D, Vandenput L, Boonen S, Lindberg MK, Bouillon R, Ohlsson C 2004 Androgens and bone. Endocr Rev 25:389-425
- 25. **Kaufman JM, Vermeulen A** 2005 The decline of androgen levels in elderly men and its clinical and therapeutic implications. Endocr Rev 26:833-876
- 26. Bogaert V, Taes Y, Konings P, Van Steen K, De Bacquer D, Goemaere S, Zmierczak H, Crabbe P, Kaufman JM 2008 Heritability of blood concentrations of sex-steroids in relation to body composition in young adult male siblings. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)
- 27. **Ring HZ, Lessov CN, Reed T, Marcus R, Holloway L, Swan GE, Carmelli D** 2005 Heritability of plasma sex hormones and hormone binding globulin in adult male twins. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:3653-3658
- 28. Labrie F, Luu-The V, Belanger A, Lin SX, Simard J, Pelletier G, Labrie C 2005 Is dehydroepiandrosterone a hormone? J Endocrinol 187:169-196
- 29. Simpson ER, Mahendroo MS, Means GD, Kilgore MW, Hinshelwood MM, Graham-Lorence S, Amarneh B, Ito Y, Fisher CR, Michael MD, et al. 1994 Aromatase cytochrome P450, the enzyme responsible for estrogen biosynthesis. Endocr Rev 15:342-355
- 30. Labrie F 1991 Intracrinology. Mol Cell Endocrinol 78:C113-118
- 31. **Labrie F** 2003 Extragonadal synthesis of sex steroids: intracrinology. Ann Endocrinol (Paris) 64:95-107
- 32. **Kuhn-Velten WN** 2000 Intracrinology and the local enzymatic control of hormone distribution and metabolism: dehydroepiandrosterone does not just act as a prohormone for androgens and estrogens. Eur J Clin Invest 30 Suppl 3:34-38
- 33. Belanger A, Pelletier G, Labrie F, Barbier O, Chouinard S 2003 Inactivation of androgens by UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes in humans. Trends Endocrinol Metab 14:473-479
- 34. **Zhou ZX, Lane MV, Kemppainen JA, French FS, Wilson EM** 1995 Specificity of ligand-dependent androgen receptor stabilization: receptor domain interactions influence ligand dissociation and receptor stability. Mol Endocrinol 9:208-218
- 35. Andersson S 2001 Steroidogenic enzymes in skin. Eur J Dermatol 11:293-295
- 36. Labrie F, Luu-The V, Lin SX, Labrie C, Simard J, Breton R, Belanger A 1997 The key role of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid biology. Steroids 62:148-158
- 37. Labrie F, Luu-The V, Lin SX, Simard J, Labrie C 2000 Role of 17 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid formation in peripheral intracrine tissues. Trends Endocrinol Metab 11:421-427
- Barbier O, Belanger A 2008 Inactivation of androgens by UDPglucuronosyltransferases in the human prostate. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 22:259-270

- 39. **Kauffman FC** 2004 Sulfonation in pharmacology and toxicology. Drug Metab Rev 36:823-843
- 40. **Raftogianis R, Creveling C, Weinshilboum R, Weisz J** 2000 Estrogen metabolism by conjugation. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr:113-124
- 41. **Roy AK** 1992 Regulation of steroid hormone action in target cells by specific hormone-inactivating enzymes. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 199:265-272
- 42. **Reed MJ, Purohit A, Woo LW, Newman SP, Potter BV** 2005 Steroid sulfatase: molecular biology, regulation, and inhibition. Endocr Rev 26:171-202
- 43. Beaulieu M, Levesque E, Barbier O, Turgeon D, Belanger G, Hum DW, Belanger A 1998 Isolation and characterization of a simian UDPglucuronosyltransferase UGT2B18 active on 3-hydroxyandrogens. J Mol Biol 275:785-794
- 44. **Beaulieu M, Levesque E, Hum DW, Belanger A** 1996 Isolation and characterization of a novel cDNA encoding a human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase active on C19 steroids. J Biol Chem 271:22855-22862
- 45. Belanger A, Hum DW, Beaulieu M, Levesque E, Guillemette C, Tchernof A, Belanger G, Turgeon D, Dubois S 1998 Characterization and regulation of UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in steroid target tissues. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 65:301-310
- 46. Mackenzie PI, Owens IS, Burchell B, Bock KW, Bairoch A, Belanger A, Fournel-Gigleux S, Green M, Hum DW, Iyanagi T, Lancet D, Louisot P, Magdalou J, Chowdhury JR, Ritter JK, Schachter H, Tephly TR, Tipton KF, Nebert DW 1997 The UDP glycosyltransferase gene superfamily: recommended nomenclature update based on evolutionary divergence. Pharmacogenetics 7:255-269
- 47. Levesque E, Turgeon D, Carrier JS, Montminy V, Beaulieu M, Belanger A 2001 Isolation and characterization of the UGT2B28 cDNA encoding a novel human steroid conjugating UDP-glucuronosyltransferase. Biochemistry 40:3869-3881
- 48. **Tukey RH, Strassburg CP** 2001 Genetic multiplicity of the human UDPglucuronosyltransferases and regulation in the gastrointestinal tract. Mol Pharmacol 59:405-414
- 49. **Owens IS, Ritter JK, Yeatman MT, Chen F** 1996 The novel UGT1 gene complex links bilirubin, xenobiotics, and therapeutic drug metabolism by encoding UDP-glucuronosyltransferase isozymes with a common carboxyl terminus. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 24:491-508
- 50. **Albert C, Vallee M, Beaudry G, Belanger A, Hum DW** 1999 The monkey and human uridine diphosphate-glucuronosyltransferase UGT1A9, expressed in steroid target tissues, are estrogen-conjugating enzymes. Endocrinology 140:3292-3302
- 51. Cheng Z, Rios GR, King CD, Coffman BL, Green MD, Mojarrabi B, Mackenzie PI, Tephly TR 1998 Glucuronidation of catechol estrogens by expressed human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) 1A1, 1A3, and 2B7. Toxicol Sci 45:52-57
- 52. **Turgeon D, Carrier JS, Levesque E, Hum DW, Belanger A** 2001 Relative enzymatic activity, protein stability, and tissue distribution of human steroid-metabolizing UGT2B subfamily members. Endocrinology 142:778-787

- 53. **Rittmaster RS, Leopold CA, Thompson DL** 1988 Preferential metabolism of dihydrotestosterone to androstanediol 17-glucuronide in rat prostate. Endocrinology 123:2788-2792
- 54. **Girard C, Barbier O, Veilleux G, El-Alfy M, Belanger A** 2003 Human uridine diphosphate-glucuronosyltransferase UGT2B7 conjugates mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid metabolites. Endocrinology 144:2659-2668
- 55. **Coffman BL, King CD, Rios GR, Tephly TR** 1998 The glucuronidation of opioids, other xenobiotics, and androgens by human UGT2B7Y(268) and UGT2B7H(268). Drug Metab Dispos 26:73-77
- 56. Lepine J, Bernard O, Plante M, Tetu B, Pelletier G, Labrie F, Belanger A, Guillemette C 2004 Specificity and regioselectivity of the conjugation of estradiol, estrone, and their catecholestrogen and methoxyestrogen metabolites by human uridine diphospho-glucuronosyltransferases expressed in endometrium. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:5222-5232
- 57. Bhasker CR, McKinnon W, Stone A, Lo AC, Kubota T, Ishizaki T, Miners JO 2000 Genetic polymorphism of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 (UGT2B7) at amino acid 268: ethnic diversity of alleles and potential clinical significance. Pharmacogenetics 10:679-685
- 58. Levesque E, Beaulieu M, Green MD, Tephly TR, Belanger A, Hum DW 1997 Isolation and characterization of UGT2B15(Y85): a UDPglucuronosyltransferase encoded by a polymorphic gene. Pharmacogenetics 7:317-325
- 59. Court MH, Duan SX, Guillemette C, Journault K, Krishnaswamy S, Von Moltke LL, Greenblatt DJ 2002 Stereoselective conjugation of oxazepam by human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs): S-oxazepam is glucuronidated by UGT2B15, while R-oxazepam is glucuronidated by UGT2B7 and UGT1A9. Drug Metab Dispos 30:1257-1265
- 60. Park J, Chen L, Shade K, Lazarus P, Seigne J, Patterson S, Helal M, Pow-Sang J 2004 Asp85tyr polymorphism in the udp-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) 2B15 gene and the risk of prostate cancer. J Urol 171:2484-2488
- 61. **MacLeod SL, Nowell S, Plaxco J, Lang NP** 2000 An allele-specific polymerase chain reaction method for the determination of the D85Y polymorphism in the human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B15 gene in a case-control study of prostate cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 7:777-782
- 62. **Gsur A, Preyer M, Haidinger G, Schatzl G, Madersbacher S, Marberger M, Vutuc C, Micksche M** 2002 A polymorphism in the UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase 2B15 gene (D85Y) is not associated with prostate cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 11:497-498
- 63. **Hajdinjak T, Zagradisnik B** 2004 Prostate cancer and polymorphism D85Y in gene for dihydrotestosterone degrading enzyme UGT2B15: Frequency of DD homozygotes increases with Gleason Score. Prostate 59:436-439
- 64. Wilson W, 3rd, Pardo-Manuel de Villena F, Lyn-Cook BD, Chatterjee PK, Bell TA, Detwiler DA, Gilmore RC, Valladeras IC, Wright CC, Threadgill DW, Grant DJ 2004 Characterization of a common deletion polymorphism of the UGT2B17 gene linked to UGT2B15. Genomics 84:707-714
- 65. **Murata M, Warren EH, Riddell SR** 2003 A human minor histocompatibility antigen resulting from differential expression due to a gene deletion. J Exp Med 197:1279-1289
- 66. Jakobsson J, Ekstrom L, Inotsume N, Garle M, Lorentzon M, Ohlsson C, Roh HK, Carlstrom K, Rane A 2006 Large differences in testosterone excretion in Korean and Swedish men are strongly associated with a UDP-

glucuronosyl transferase 2B17 polymorphism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:687-693

- 67. **Karypidis AH, Olsson M, Andersson SO, Rane A, Ekstrom L** 2008 Deletion polymorphism of the UGT2B17 gene is associated with increased risk for prostate cancer and correlated to gene expression in the prostate. Pharmacogenomics J 8:147-151
- 68. Olsson M, Lindstrom S, Haggkvist B, Adami HO, Balter K, Stattin P, Ask B, Rane A, Ekstrom L, Gronberg H 2008 The UGT2B17 gene deletion is not associated with prostate cancer risk. Prostate 68:571-575
- 69. Gallagher CJ, Kadlubar FF, Muscat JE, Ambrosone CB, Lang NP, Lazarus P 2007 The UGT2B17 gene deletion polymorphism and risk of prostate cancer. A case-control study in Caucasians. Cancer Detect Prev 31:310-315
- 70. **Martucci CP, Fishman J** 1993 P450 enzymes of estrogen metabolism. Pharmacol Ther 57:237-257
- 71. **Qian YM, Sun XJ, Tong MH, Li XP, Richa J, Song WC** 2001 Targeted disruption of the mouse estrogen sulfotransferase gene reveals a role of estrogen metabolism in intracrine and paracrine estrogen regulation. Endocrinology 142:5342-5350
- 72. Heldring N, Pike A, Andersson S, Matthews J, Cheng G, Hartman J, Tujague M, Strom A, Treuter E, Warner M, Gustafsson JA 2007 Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. Physiol Rev 87:905-931
- 73. Liu PY, Death AK, Handelsman DJ 2003 Androgens and cardiovascular disease. Endocr Rev 24:313-340
- 74. **Agoulnik IU, Weigel NL** 2006 Androgen receptor action in hormonedependent and recurrent prostate cancer. J Cell Biochem 99:362-372
- 75. Windahl SH, Andersson N, Chagin AS, Martensson UE, Carlsten H, Olde B, Swanson C, Moverare-Skrtic S, Savendahl L, Lagerquist MK, Leeb-Lundberg LM, Ohlsson C 2008 The role of the G protein-coupled Receptor GPR30 in the Effects of Estrogen in Ovariectomized Mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab
- 76. Siiteri PK, Murai JT, Hammond GL, Nisker JA, Raymoure WJ, Kuhn RW 1982 The serum transport of steroid hormones. Recent Prog Horm Res 38:457-510
- 77. van den Beld AW, De Jong FH, Grobbee DE, Pols HAP, Lamberts SWJ 2000 Measures of bioavailable serum testosterone and estradiol and their relationships with muscle strength, bone density, and body composition in elderly men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:3276-3282
- 78. **Vermeulen A, Verdonck L, Kaufman JM** 1999 A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:3666-3672
- 79. Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Klee GG, Riggs BL 1998 Relationship of serum sex steroid levels and bone turnover markers with bone mineral density in men and women: a key role for bioavailable estrogen. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:2266-2274
- 80. **Labrie C, Belanger A, Labrie F** 1988 Androgenic activity of dehydroepiandrosterone and androstenedione in the rat ventral prostate. Endocrinology 123:1412-1417

- 81. **Garland CF, Friedlander NJ, Barrett-Connor E, Khaw KT** 1992 Sex hormones and postmenopausal breast cancer: a prospective study in an adult community. Am J Epidemiol 135:1220-1230
- 82. Labrie F, Cusan L, Gomez JL, Martel C, Berube R, Belanger P, Belanger A, Vandenput L, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C 2009 Comparable amounts of sex steroids are made outside the gonads in men and women: Strong lesson for hormone therapy of prostate and breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 113:52-56
- 83. Labrie F, Luu-The V, Labrie C, Belanger A, Simard J, Lin SX, Pelletier G 2003 Endocrine and intracrine sources of androgens in women: inhibition of breast cancer and other roles of androgens and their precursor dehydroepiandrosterone. Endocr Rev 24:152-182
- 84. Lipworth L, Adami HO, Trichopoulos D, Carlstrom K, Mantzoros C 1996 Serum steroid hormone levels, sex hormone-binding globulin, and body mass index in the etiology of postmenopausal breast cancer. Epidemiology 7:96-100
- 85. **Tchernof A, Labrie F** 2004 Dehydroepiandrosterone, obesity and cardiovascular disease risk: a review of human studies. Eur J Endocrinol 151:1-14
- 86. **Labrie F, Belanger A, Cusan L, Candas B** 1997 Physiological changes in dehydroepiandrosterone are not reflected by serum levels of active androgens and estrogens but of their metabolites: intracrinology. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:2403-2409
- 87. Labrie F, Belanger A, Belanger P, Berube R, Martel C, Cusan L, Gomez J, Candas B, Castiel I, Chaussade V, Deloche C, Leclaire J 2006 Androgen glucuronides, instead of testosterone, as the new markers of androgenic activity in women. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 99:182-188
- 88. **Schulze JJ** 2007 Genetics of androgen disposition Implication for doping tests. In: Ph.D thesis, Stockholm: Karolinska Institute; 57
- 89. **Wilson H, Lipsett MB** 1966 Metabolism of epitestosterone in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 26:902-914
- 90. **Borts DJ, Bowers LD** 2000 Direct measurement of urinary testosterone and epitestosterone conjugates using high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. J Mass Spectrom 35:50-61
- 91. **Heald AH, Ivison F, Anderson SG, Cruickshank K, Laing I, Gibson JM** 2003 Significant ethnic variation in total and free testosterone concentration. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 58:262-266
- 92. Santner SJ, Albertson B, Zhang GY, Zhang GH, Santulli M, Wang C, Demers LM, Shackleton C, Santen RJ 1998 Comparative rates of androgen production and metabolism in Caucasian and Chinese subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:2104-2109
- 93. **Favus M** 2006 Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. 6 ed: American Society of Bone and Mineral Research
- 94. **Rogol AD, Roemmich JN, Clark PA** 2002 Growth at puberty. J Adolesc Health 31:192-200
- 95. Sjogren K, Liu JL, Blad K, Skrtic S, Vidal O, Wallenius V, LeRoith D, Tornell J, Isaksson OG, Jansson JO, Ohlsson C 1999 Liver-derived insulinlike growth factor I (IGF-I) is the principal source of IGF-I in blood but is not required for postnatal body growth in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7088-7092
- 96. **Seeman E** 2008 Bone quality: the material and structural basis of bone strength. J Bone Miner Metab 26:1-8

- 97. **Kindblom JM, Lorentzon M, Norjavaara E, Hellqvist A, Nilsson S, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C** 2006 Pubertal timing predicts previous fractures and BMD in young adult men: the GOOD study. J Bone Miner Res 21:790-795
- 98. **Mauras N, Rogol AD, Veldhuis JD** 1989 Specific, time-dependent actions of low-dose ethinyl estradiol administration on the episodic release of growth hormone, follicle-stimulating hormone, and luteinizing hormone in prepubertal girls with Turner's syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 69:1053-1058
- 99. **Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd** 2002 Sex steroids and the construction and conservation of the adult skeleton. Endocr Rev 23:279-302
- 100. Smith EP, Boyd J, Frank GR, Takahashi H, Cohen RM, Specker B, Williams TC, Lubahn DB, Korach KS 1994 Estrogen resistance caused by a mutation in the estrogen-receptor gene in a man. N Engl J Med 331:1056-1061
- 101. **Bilezikian JP, Morishima A, Bell J, Grumbach MM** 1998 Increased bone mass as a result of estrogen therapy in a man with aromatase deficiency. N Engl J Med 339:599-603
- 102. **Morishima A, Grumbach MM, Simpson ER, Fisher C, Qin K** 1995 Aromatase deficiency in male and female siblings caused by a novel mutation and the physiological role of estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80:3689-3698.
- 103. Khosla S, Amin S, Orwoll E 2008 Osteoporosis in men. Endocr Rev 29:441-464
- 104. Riggs BL, Melton Iii LJ, 3rd, Robb RA, Camp JJ, Atkinson EJ, Peterson JM, Rouleau PA, McCollough CH, Bouxsein ML, Khosla S 2004 Population-based study of age and sex differences in bone volumetric density, size, geometry, and structure at different skeletal sites. J Bone Miner Res 19:1945-1954
- 105. Amin S, Zhang Y, Sawin CT, Evans SR, Hannan MT, Kiel DP, Wilson PWF, Felson DT 2000 Association of hypogonadism and estradiol levels with bone mineral density in elderly men from the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med 133:951-963
- 106. Center JR, Nguyen TV, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA 1999 Hormonal and biochemical parameters in the determination of osteoporosis in elderly men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:3626-3635
- 107. Khosla S, Melton LJ, III, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM 2001 Relationship of serum sex steroid levels to longitudinal changes in bone density in young versus elderly men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:3555-3561
- 108. **Khosla S, Melton LJ, 3rd, Riggs BL** 2002 Clinical review 144: Estrogen and the male skeleton. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:1443-1450
- 109. Mellstrom D, Johnell O, Ljunggren O, Eriksson AL, Lorentzon M, Mallmin H, Holmberg A, Redlund-Johnell I, Orwoll E, Ohlsson C 2006 Free testosterone is an independent predictor of BMD and prevalent fractures in elderly men: MrOS Sweden. J Bone Miner Res 21:529-535
- 110. **Ongphiphadhanakul B, Rajatanavin R, Chanprasertyothin S, Piaseu N, Chailurkit L** 1998 Serum oestradiol and oestrogen-receptor gene polymorphism are associated with bone mineral density independently of serum testosterone in normal males. Clin Endocrinol 49:803-809
- 111. Slemenda CW, Longcope C, Zhou L, Hui SL, Peacock M, Johnston CC 1997 Sex steroids and bone mass in older men. Positive associations with serum estrogens and negative associations with androgens. J Clin Invest 100:1755-1759

- 112. Szulc P, Munoz F, Claustrat B, Garnero P, Marchand F, Duboeuf F, Delmas PD 2001 Bioavailable estradiol may be an important determinant of osteoporosis in men: the MINOS study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:192-199
- 113. Van Pottelbergh I, Goemaere S, Kaufman JM 2003 Bioavailable estradiol and an aromatase gene polymorphism are determinants of bone mineral density changes in men over 70 years of age. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:3075-3081
- 114. **Falahati-Nini A, Riggs BL, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Eastell R, Khosla S** 2000 Relative contributions of testosterone and estrogen in regulating bone resorption and formation in normal elderly men. J Clin Invest 106:1553-1560
- 115. Mellstrom D, Vandenput L, Mallmin H, Holmberg AH, Lorentzon M, Oden A, Johansson H, Orwoll ES, Labrie F, Karlsson MK, Ljunggren O, Ohlsson C 2008 Older men with low serum estradiol and high serum SHBG have an increased risk of fractures. J Bone Miner Res 23:1552-1560
- 116. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Sembo I, Redlund-Johnell I, Dawson A, De Laet C, Jonsson B 2000 Long-term risk of osteoporotic fracture in Malmo. Osteoporos Int 11:669-674
- 117. Vanderschueren D, Gaytant J, Boonen S, Venken K 2008 Androgens and bone. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 15:250-254
- 118. World Health Organization W 2008 The World Health Report 2008. In:
- 119. **Neovius M, Janson A, Rossner S** 2006 Prevalence of obesity in Sweden. Obes Rev 7:1-3
- 120. Chagnon YC, Rankinen T, Snyder EE, Weisnagel SJ, Perusse L, Bouchard C 2003 The human obesity gene map: the 2002 update. Obes Res 11:313-367
- 121. Allison DB, Kaprio J, Korkeila M, Koskenvuo M, Neale MC, Hayakawa K 1996 The heritability of body mass index among an international sample of monozygotic twins reared apart. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 20:501-506
- 122. **Stunkard AJ, Harris JR, Pedersen NL, McClearn GE** 1990 The body-mass index of twins who have been reared apart. N Engl J Med 322:1483-1487
- 123. **Bouchard C, Despres JP, Mauriege P** 1993 Genetic and nongenetic determinants of regional fat distribution. Endocr Rev 14:72-93
- 124. Lohmueller KE, Pearce CL, Pike M, Lander ES, Hirschhorn JN 2003 Metaanalysis of genetic association studies supports a contribution of common variants to susceptibility to common disease. Nat Genet 33:177-182
- 125. **Hofker M, Wijmenga C** 2009 A supersized list of obesity genes. Nat Genet 41:139-140
- 126. Meyre D, Delplanque J, Chevre JC, Lecoeur C, Lobbens S, Gallina S, Durand E, Vatin V, Degraeve F, Proenca C, Gaget S, Korner A, Kovacs P, Kiess W, Tichet J, Marre M, Hartikainen AL, Horber F, Potoczna N, Hercberg S, Levy-Marchal C, Pattou F, Heude B, Tauber M, McCarthy MI, Blakemore AI, Montpetit A, Polychronakos C, Weill J, Coin LJ, Asher J, Elliott P, Jarvelin MR, Visvikis-Siest S, Balkau B, Sladek R, Balding D, Walley A, Dina C, Froguel P 2009 Genome-wide association study for earlyonset and morbid adult obesity identifies three new risk loci in European populations. Nat Genet 41:157-159
- 127. Willer CJ, Speliotes EK, Loos RJ, Li S, Lindgren CM, Heid IM, Berndt SI, Elliott AL, Jackson AU, Lamina C, Lettre G, Lim N, Lyon HN, McCarroll SA, Papadakis K, Qi L, Randall JC, Roccasecca RM, Sanna S, Scheet P, Weedon MN, Wheeler E, Zhao JH, Jacobs LC, Prokopenko I, Soranzo N, Tanaka T, Timpson NJ, Almgren P, Bennett A, Bergman RN, Bingham

SA, Bonnycastle LL, Brown M, Burtt NP, Chines P, Coin L, Collins FS, Connell JM. Cooper C. Smith GD. Dennison EM. Deodhar P. Elliott P. Erdos MR, Estrada K, Evans DM, Gianniny L, Gieger C, Gillson CJ, Guiducci C, Hackett R, Hadley D, Hall AS, Havulinna AS, Hebebrand J, Hofman A, Isomaa B, Jacobs KB, Johnson T, Jousilahti P, Jovanovic Z, Khaw KT, Kraft P, Kuokkanen M, Kuusisto J, Laitinen J, Lakatta EG, Luan J, Luben RN, Mangino M, McArdle WL, Meitinger T, Mulas A, Munroe PB, Narisu N, Ness AR, Northstone K, O'Rahilly S, Purmann C, Rees MG, Ridderstrale M, Ring SM, Rivadeneira F, Ruokonen A, Sandhu MS, Saramies J, Scott LJ, Scuteri A, Silander K, Sims MA, Song K, Stephens J, Stevens S, Stringham HM, Tung YC, Valle TT, Van Duijn CM, Vimaleswaran KS, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Wallace C, Watanabe RM, Waterworth DM, Watkins N, Witteman JC, Zeggini E, Zhai G, Zillikens MC, Altshuler D. Caulfield MJ. Chanock SJ. Faroogi IS. Ferrucci L. Guralnik JM, Hattersley AT, Hu FB, Jarvelin MR, Laakso M, Mooser V, Ong KK, Ouwehand WH, Salomaa V, Samani NJ, Spector TD, Tuomi T, Tuomilehto J, Uda M, Uitterlinden AG, Wareham NJ, Deloukas P, Frayling TM, Groop LC, Hayes RB, Hunter DJ, Mohlke KL, Peltonen L, Schlessinger D, Strachan DP, Wichmann HE, McCarthy MI, Boehnke M, Barroso I, Abecasis GR, Hirschhorn JN 2009 Six new loci associated with body mass index highlight a neuronal influence on body weight regulation. Nat Genet 41:25-34

- 128. **Guney E, Kisakol G, Ozgen G, Yilmaz C, Yilmaz R, Kabalak T** 2003 Effect of weight loss on bone metabolism: comparison of vertical banded gastroplasty and medical intervention. Obes Surg 13:383-388
- 129. **Radak TL** 2004 Caloric restriction and calcium's effect on bone metabolism and body composition in overweight and obese premenopausal women. Nutr Rev 62:468-481
- 130. **Wardlaw GM** 1996 Putting body weight and osteoporosis into perspective. Am J Clin Nutr 63:433S-436S
- Zhao LJ, Liu YJ, Liu PY, Hamilton J, Recker RR, Deng HW 2007 Relationship of obesity with osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:1640-1646
- 132. Blouin K, Boivin A, Tchernof A 2008 Androgens and body fat distribution. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 108:272-280
- 133. **Kissebah AHE, GJ, Peiris A, Wilson CR** 1985 Endocrine characteristics in regional obesities: role of sex steroids. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- 134. **Pasquali R, Casimirri F, Cantobelli S, Melchionda N, Morselli Labate AM, Fabbri R, Capelli M, Bortoluzzi L** 1991 Effect of obesity and body fat distribution on sex hormones and insulin in men. Metabolism 40:101-104
- 135. Khaw KT, Barrett-Connor E 1992 Lower endogenous androgens predict central adiposity in men. Ann Epidemiol 2:675-682
- 136. **Gapstur SM, Gann PH, Kopp P, Colangelo L, Longcope C, Liu K** 2002 Serum androgen concentrations in young men: a longitudinal analysis of associations with age, obesity, and race. The CARDIA male hormone study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 11:1041-1047
- 137. Seidell JC, Bjorntorp P, Sjostrom L, Kvist H, Sannerstedt R 1990 Visceral fat accumulation in men is positively associated with insulin, glucose, and C-peptide levels, but negatively with testosterone levels. Metabolism 39:897-901
- 138. Tchernof A, Labrie F, Belanger A, Prud'homme D, Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Despres JP 1997 Androstane-3alpha,17beta-diol glucuronide
as a steroid correlate of visceral obesity in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:1528-1534

- 139. Pritchard J, Despres JP, Gagnon J, Tchernof A, Nadeau A, Tremblay A, Bouchard C 1998 Plasma adrenal, gonadal, and conjugated steroids before and after long-term overfeeding in identical twins. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:3277-3284
- 140. **Pritchard J, Despres JP, Gagnon J, Tchernof A, Nadeau A, Tremblay A, Bouchard C** 1999 Plasma adrenal, gonadal, and conjugated steroids following long-term exercise-induced negative energy balance in identical twins. Metabolism 48:1120-1127
- 141. **Stumvoll M, Goldstein BJ, van Haeften TW** 2005 Type 2 diabetes: principles of pathogenesis and therapy. Lancet 365:1333-1346
- 142. **Zimmet P, Magliano D, Matsuzawa Y, Alberti G, Shaw J** 2005 The metabolic syndrome: a global public health problem and a new definition. J Atheroscler Thromb 12:295-300
- 143. **Reisin E, Alpert MA** 2005 Definition of the metabolic syndrome: current proposals and controversies. Am J Med Sci 330:269-272
- 144. Hajamor S, Despres JP, Couillard C, Lemieux S, Tremblay A, Prud'homme D, Tchernof A 2003 Relationship between sex hormonebinding globulin levels and features of the metabolic syndrome. Metabolism 52:724-730
- 145. **Phillips GB, Jing T, Heymsfield SB** 2003 Relationships in men of sex hormones, insulin, adiposity, and risk factors for myocardial infarction. Metabolism 52:784-790
- 146. Blouin K, Despres JP, Couillard C, Tremblay A, Prud'homme D, Bouchard C, Tchernof A 2005 Contribution of age and declining androgen levels to features of the metabolic syndrome in men. Metabolism 54:1034-1040
- 147. Laaksonen DE, Niskanen L, Punnonen K, Nyyssonen K, Tuomainen TP, Salonen R, Rauramaa R, Salonen JT 2003 Sex hormones, inflammation and the metabolic syndrome: a population-based study. Eur J Endocrinol 149:601-608
- 148. Lorentzon M, Swanson C, Andersson N, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C 2005 Free testosterone is a positive, whereas free estradiol is a negative, predictor of cortical bone size in young Swedish men: the GOOD study. J Bone Miner Res 20:1334-1341
- 149. **Sjostrom L, Kvist H, Cederblad A, Tylen U** 1986 Determination of total adipose tissue and body fat in women by computed tomography, 40K, and tritium. Am J Physiol 250:E736-745
- 150. **Collins GN, Lee RJ, Russell EB, Raab GM, Hehir M** 1993 Ultrasonically determined patterns of enlargement in benign prostatic hyperplasia. Br J Urol 71:451-456
- 151. Schulze JJ, Lundmark J, Garle M, Skilving I, Ekstrom L, Rane A 2008 Doping test results dependent on genotype of uridine diphospho-glucuronosyl transferase 2B17, the major enzyme for testosterone glucuronidation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:2500-2506
- 152. **Couzin J** 2007 Human genetics. In Asians and whites, gene expression varies by race. Science 315:173-174
- 153. Schulze JJ, Lundmark J, Garle M, Ekstrom L, Sottas PE, Rane A 2008 Substantial advantage of a combined Bayesian and genotyping approach in testosterone doping tests. Steroids

- 154. Park J, Chen L, Ratnashinge L, Sellers TA, Tanner JP, Lee JH, Dossett N, Lang N, Kadlubar FF, Ambrosone CB, Zachariah B, Heysek RV, Patterson S, Pow-Sang J 2006 Deletion polymorphism of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B17 and risk of prostate cancer in African American and Caucasian men. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15:1473-1478
- 155. **Hsing AW** 2001 Hormones and prostate cancer: what's next? Epidemiol Rev 23:42-58
- 156. **Labrie F, Dupont A, Belanger A** 1985 Complete androgen blockade for the treatment of prostate cancer. In: de Vita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA eds. Important advances in Oncology: J.B.Lippincott, Philadelphia, PA, USA; 193-217
- 157. **Belanger A, Brochu M, Cliche J** 1986 Levels of plasma steroid glucuronides in intact and castrated men with prostatic cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 62:812-815
- 158. **Center JR, Nguyen TV, Sambrook PN, Eisman JA** 2000 Hormonal and biochemical parameters and osteoporotic fractures in elderly men. J Bone Miner Res 15:1405-1411
- 159. **Greendale GA, Edelstein S, Barrett-Connor E** 1997 Endogenous sex steroids and bone mineral density in older women and men: the Rancho Bernardo study. J Bone Miner Res 12:1833-1843
- 160. Meier C, Nguyen TV, Handelsman DJ, Schindler C, Kushnir MM, Rockwood AL, Meikle AW, Center JR, Eisman JA, Seibel MJ 2008 Endogenous sex hormones and incident fracture risk in older men: the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study. Arch Intern Med 168:47-54
- 161. **Thijssen JH** 2006 Gene polymorphisms involved in the regulation of bone quality. Gynecol Endocrinol 22:131-139
- 162. **Marberger M, Roehrborn CG, Marks LS, Wilson T, Rittmaster RS** 2006 Relationship among serum testosterone, sexual function, and response to treatment in men receiving dutasteride for benign prostatic hyperplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:1323-1328
- 163. **Monda JM, Myers RP, Bostwick DG, Oesterling JE** 1995 The correlation between serum prostate-specific antigen and prostate cancer is not influenced by the serum testosterone concentration. Urology 46:62-64
- 164. Lorentzon M, Swanson C, Eriksson AL, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C 2006 Polymorphisms in the aromatase gene predict areal BMD as a result of affected cortical bone size: the GOOD study. J Bone Miner Res 21:332-339
- 165. Kastelan D, Grubic Z, Kraljevic I, Duric K, Kardum I, Dusek T, Stingl K, Giljevic Z, Kerhin-Brkljacic V, Suchanek E, Korsic M 2007 Decreased peak bone mass is associated with a 3-bp deletion/insertion of the CYP19 intron 4 polymorphism: preliminary data from the GOOS study. J Endocrinol Invest 30:465-469
- 166. Gennari L, Masi L, Merlotti D, Picariello L, Falchetti A, Tanini A, Mavilia C, Del Monte F, Gonnelli S, Lucani B, Gennari C, Brandi ML 2004 A polymorphic CYP19 TTTA repeat influences aromatase activity and estrogen levels in elderly men: effects on bone metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2803-2810
- 167. Lorentzon M, Eriksson AL, Mellstrom D, Ohlsson C 2004 The COMT val158met Polymorphism Is Associated With Peak BMD in Men. J Bone Miner Res 19:2005-2011
- 168. Eriksson AL, Mellstrom D, Lorentzon M, Orwoll ES, Redlund-Johnell I, Grundberg E, Holmberg A, Ljunggren O, Karlsson MK, Ohlsson C 2008

The COMT val158met polymorphism is associated with prevalent fractures in Swedish men. Bone 42:107-112

- 169. Gorai I, Inada M, Morinaga H, Uchiyama Y, Yamauchi H, Hirahara F, Chaki O 2007 CYP17 and COMT gene polymorphisms can influence bone directly, or indirectly through their effects on endogenous sex steroids, in postmenopausal Japanese women. Bone 40:28-36
- 170. Zarrabeitia MT, Hernandez JL, Valero C, Zarrabeitia A, Amado JA, Gonzalez-Macias J, Riancho JA 2007 Adiposity, estradiol, and genetic variants of steroid-metabolizing enzymes as determinants of bone mineral density. Eur J Endocrinol 156:117-122
- 171. Kim BT, Mosekilde L, Duan Y, Zhang XZ, Tornvig L, Thomsen JS, Seeman E 2003 The structural and hormonal basis of sex differences in peak appendicular bone strength in rats. J Bone Miner Res 18:150-155
- 172. **Seeman E** 2003 Periosteal bone formation--a neglected determinant of bone strength. N Engl J Med 349:320-323
- Haffner SM, Valdez RA, Stern MP, Katz MS 1993 Obesity, body fat distribution and sex hormones in men. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 17:643-649
- 174. **Zumoff B, Strain GW, Miller LK, Rosner W, Senie R, Seres DS, Rosenfeld RS** 1990 Plasma free and non-sex-hormone-binding-globulin-bound testosterone are decreased in obese men in proportion to their degree of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 71:929-931
- 175. Amatruda JM, Harman SM, Pourmotabbed G, Lockwood DH 1978 Depressed plasma testosterone and fractional binding of testosterone in obese males. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 47:268-271
- 176. Harman SM, Metter EJ, Tobin JD, Pearson J, Blackman MR 2001 Longitudinal effects of aging on serum total and free testosterone levels in healthy men. Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:724-731
- Giagulli VA, Kaufman JM, Vermeulen A 1994 Pathogenesis of the decreased androgen levels in obese men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79:997-1000
- 178. Tchernof A, Despres JP, Belanger A, Dupont A, Prud'homme D, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, Labrie F 1995 Reduced testosterone and adrenal C19 steroid levels in obese men. Metabolism 44:513-519
- 179. **Kazi M, Geraci SA, Koch CA** 2007 Considerations for the diagnosis and treatment of testosterone deficiency in elderly men. Am J Med 120:835-840
- 180. Bhasin S, Cunningham GR, Hayes FJ, Matsumoto AM, Snyder PJ, Swerdloff RS, Montori VM 2006 Testosterone therapy in adult men with androgen deficiency syndromes: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:1995-2010
- 181. Nieschlag E, Swerdloff R, Behre HM, Gooren LJ, Kaufman JM, Legros JJ, Lunenfeld B, Morley JE, Schulman C, Wang C, Weidner W, Wu FC 2005 Investigation, treatment and monitoring of late-onset hypogonadism in males: ISA, ISSAM, and EAU recommendations. Int J Androl 28:125-127
- 182. **Pharmaceuticals S** 2006 AndroGel. In: Product Monograph
- 183. Brambilla DJ, Matsumoto AM, Araujo AB, McKinlay JB 2009 The effect of diurnal variation on clinical measurement of serum testosterone and other sex hormone levels in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:907-913
- 184. **Hong BS, Ahn TY** 2007 Recent trends in the treatment of testosterone deficiency syndrome. Int J Urol 14:981-985

- 185. Baulieu EE, Thomas G, Legrain S, Lahlou N, Roger M, Debuire B, Faucounau V, Girard L, Hervy MP, Latour F, Leaud MC, Mokrane A, Pitti-Ferrandi H, Trivalle C, de Lacharriere O, Nouveau S, Rakoto-Arison B, Souberbielle JC, Raison J, Le Bouc Y, Raynaud A, Girerd X, Forette F 2000 Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), DHEA sulfate, and aging: contribution of the DHEAge Study to a sociobiomedical issue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:4279-4284
- 186. Legrain S, Massien C, Lahlou N, Roger M, Debuire B, Diquet B, Chatellier G, Azizi M, Faucounau V, Porchet H, Forette F, Baulieu EE 2000 Dehydroepiandrosterone replacement administration: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies in healthy elderly subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:3208-3217
- 187. **Morales AJ, Haubrich RH, Hwang JY, Asakura H, Yen SS** 1998 The effect of six months treatment with a 100 mg daily dose of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) on circulating sex steroids, body composition and muscle strength in age-advanced men and women. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 49:421-432
- 188. Morales AJ, Nolan JJ, Nelson JC, Yen SS 1994 Effects of replacement dose of dehydroepiandrosterone in men and women of advancing age. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 78:1360-1367
- 189. **Villareal DT, Holloszy JO** 2004 Effect of DHEA on abdominal fat and insulin action in elderly women and men: a randomized controlled trial. Jama 292:2243-2248
- 190. Nair KS, Rizza RA, O'Brien P, Dhatariya K, Short KR, Nehra A, Vittone JL, Klee GG, Basu A, Basu R, Cobelli C, Toffolo G, Dalla Man C, Tindall DJ, Melton LJ, 3rd, Smith GE, Khosla S, Jensen MD 2006 DHEA in elderly women and DHEA or testosterone in elderly men. N Engl J Med 355:1647-1659
- 191. Wu FC, Tajar A, Pye SR, Silman AJ, Finn JD, O'Neill TW, Bartfai G, Casanueva F, Forti G, Giwercman A, Huhtaniemi IT, Kula K, Punab M, Boonen S, Vanderschueren D 2008 Hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis disruptions in older men are differentially linked to age and modifiable risk factors: the European Male Aging Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:2737-2745
- 192. Derby CA, Zilber S, Brambilla D, Morales KH, McKinlay JB 2006 Body mass index, waist circumference and waist to hip ratio and change in sex steroid hormones: the Massachusetts Male Ageing Study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 65:125-131
- 193. Basaria S, Lieb J, 2nd, Tang AM, DeWeese T, Carducci M, Eisenberger M, Dobs AS 2002 Long-term effects of androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer patients. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 56:779-786
- 194. **Marin P** 1995 Testosterone and regional fat distribution. Obes Res 3 Suppl 4:609S-612S
- 195. Couillard C, Gagnon J, Bergeron J, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH, Despres JP, Bouchard C 2000 Contribution of body fatness and adipose tissue distribution to the age variation in plasma steroid hormone concentrations in men: the HERITAGE Family Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1026-1031
- 196. **Travison TG, Araujo AB, O'Donnell AB, Kupelian V, McKinlay JB** 2007 A population-level decline in serum testosterone levels in American men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:196-202

- 197. Blouin K, Richard C, Belanger C, Dupont P, Daris M, Laberge P, Luu-The V, Tchernof A 2003 Local androgen inactivation in abdominal visceral adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:5944-5950
- 198. Blanchette S, Blouin K, Richard C, Dupont P, Luu-The V, Tchernof A 2005 Expression and activity of 20alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (AKR1C1) in abdominal subcutaneous and omental adipose tissue in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:264-270
- 199. **Belanger C, Luu-The V, Dupont P, Tchernof A** 2002 Adipose tissue intracrinology: potential importance of local androgen/estrogen metabolism in the regulation of adiposity. Horm Metab Res 34:737-745
- 200. **Tchernof A, Levesque É, Beaulieu M, Couture P, Despres JP, Hum DW, Belanger A** 1999 Expression of the androgen metabolizing enzyme UGT2B15 in adipose tissue and relative expression measurement using a competitive RT-PCR method. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 50:637-642
- 201. Blouin K, Richard C, Brochu G, Hould FS, Lebel S, Marceau S, Biron S, Luu-The V, Tchernof A 2006 Androgen inactivation and steroid-converting enzyme expression in abdominal adipose tissue in men. J Endocrinol 191:637-649
- 202. Kindblom JM, Lorentzon M, Hellqvist A, Lonn L, Brandberg J, Nilsson S, Norjavaara E, Ohlsson C 2009 BMI Changes during Childhood and Adolescence as Predictors of Amount Adult Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue in Men - the GOOD Study. Diabetes
- 203. Levesque E, Delage R, Benoit-Biancamano MO, Caron P, Bernard O, Couture F, Guillemette C 2007 The impact of UGT1A8, UGT1A9, and UGT2B7 genetic polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetic profile of mycophenolic acid after a single oral dose in healthy volunteers. Clin Pharmacol Ther 81:392-400
- 204. **Miners JO, McKinnon RA, Mackenzie PI** 2002 Genetic polymorphisms of UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and their functional significance. Toxicology 181-182:453-456
- 205. **Guillemette C** 2003 Pharmacogenomics of human UDPglucuronosyltransferase enzymes. Pharmacogenomics J 3:136-158
- 206. **Maruo Y, Iwai M, Mori A, Sato H, Takeuchi Y** 2005 Polymorphism of UDPglucuronosyltransferase and drug metabolism. Curr Drug Metab 6:91-99